Managing the Transition to a Climate-Neutral Economy in Cities and Regions

Ralph Chapman School of Geography, Environment and Earth Sciences, Victoria University Wellington ralph.chapman@vuw.ac.nz

This paper investigates how cities can manage the critical transition to carbon neutrality. First, and in the light of the most recent evidence on climate science, the role and responsibility of cities and their regions in mitigating climate change are identified, together with factors that could hold cities back, and characteristics of cities, which can facilitate their contribution to the transition process. Second, a framework for considering the desired contribution is developed, focusing on how policy can be more coherently framed around well-being and the sustainable development goals, moving away from a narrow cost-benefit analysis to emphasise co-benefits, while recognising the complexity and constraints of urban systems. A key part of the argument is that the transition process can and must involve signalling such an early and profound shift in expectations and priorities for investment and behaviour that an endogenous process of system transformation takes place in which the costs of change fall dramatically. The last part of the analysis argues that political and governance processes will not succeed without giving attention to ensuring the transition is just.

Four key themes emerge. First, a rapid and far-reaching transition is essential to preserve as much climate stability as possible, but will be disruptive and politically demanding. Second, in the context of urgency, effectiveness becomes more salient than efficiency. Third, the shift from a framework focused on optimising for economic growth to one based on the purposeful pursuit of well-being, including climate stability, has major implications for the way that mitigation is framed for cities. Fourth, the systemic nature of cities has a profound effect on the nature of the policy approaches required to mitigate urban emissions, and the means by which we can overcome barriers to mitigation along a carbon-neutral transition path.

Background information

This paper was prepared as a background document for an OECD/EC high-level expert workshop on "Managing the transition to a climate-neutral economy for regions and cities" held on 17 May 2019 at the OECD Headquarters in Paris, France. It sets a basis for reflection and discussion. The background paper should not be reported as representing the official views of the European Commission, the OECD or one of its member countries. The opinions expressed and arguments employed are those of the author(s).

Managing environmental and energy transitions for regions and cities

The workshop is part of a five-part workshop series in the context of an OECD/EC project on "Managing environmental and energy transitions for regions and cities". The five workshops cover "Managing the transition to a climate-neutral economy, "Managing environmental and energy transitions in cities", "Managing the transition to a circular economy", "Managing environmental and energy transitions in rural areas", and "Financing, scale-up and deployment". The outcome of the workshops supports the work of the OECD Regional Development Policy Committee and its mandate to promote the design and implementation of policies that are adapted to the relevant territorial scales or geographies, and that focus on the main factors that sustain the competitive advantages of regions and cities. The seminars also support the Directorate-General for Regional and Urban Policy (DG REGIO) of the European Commission in work of integrating sustainability transitions in the next generation of European Union Cohesion Policy programmes 2021-2027, as well as to support broader discussion with stakeholders on managing long-term environmental and energy goals in EU regions and cities. The financial contributions and support from DG REGIO are gratefully acknowledged.

The OECD Centre for Entrepreneurship, SMEs, Regions and Cities on Twitter: <u>@OECD local</u>

Citation

Chapman, R. (2019), "Managing the Transition to a Climate-Neutral Economy in Cities and Regions", Background paper for an OECD/EC Workshop on 17 May 2019 within the workshop series "Managing environmental and energy transitions for regions and cities", Paris.





Table of Contents

1 Introduction and key themes		4
2 The rol 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5	e of cities and regions in the necessary transition Cities are a major part of the carbon emissions problem, but the problem is systemic Why is the contribution of cities so critical? What could hold cities back? How can urban transitions be facilitated? The context in which cities must act: urgency and capacity	7 7 8 9 9
3 Ensurir	ng coherent and purposeful urban transition policies	12
3.1	Ensuring the strategic framework is coherent	12
3.2	From incremental opportunism to a cohesive investment strategy	13
3.3	Growth, well-being and the SDGs	14
3.4	Rethinking cost-benefit analysis to facilitate the transition; the role of co-benefits	15
3.5	Transition opportunities and limitations in urban systems	17
4 Aligning	g the framework for transition: Instruments and infrastructure	21
4.1	Instruments: Pricing, regulation, first-best policy instruments and their limits	21
4.2	Infrastructure investment	23
5 Govern	ance and political change	25
5.1	Working with public perceptions	25
5.2	Future focused, connected institutions	27
5.3	Inclusive, democratic processes	27
5.4	Addressing inequalities and distributional issues	29
5.5	Knowledge gaps	30
6 References		32

1 Introduction and key themes

In 2018, the IPCC released a report on climate change (2018a), which provides an authoritative overview of the scale of transition necessary internationally if catastrophic climate risks associated with global warming above the 1.5-2°C range (relative to pre-industrial levels) are to be avoided:

'Pathways limiting global warming to 1.5°C... would require *rapid and far-reaching transitions* in energy, land, urban and infrastructure (including transport and buildings) and industrial systems (high confidence). These systems transitions are *unprecedented in terms of scale*, but not necessarily in terms of speed, and imply *deep emissions reductions in all sectors*, a wide portfolio of mitigation options and a significant upscaling of investments in those options (medium confidence).' (IPCC, 2018b, p.17); emphasis added.

Others echo this language, many seeing the transition challenge as part of a wider ecological sustainability crisis. For example the Institute for Public Policy Research in the UK approach the transition challenge from the perspective of avoiding a wider environmental breakdown: 'Preventing environmental breakdown requires rapid transitions of unprecedented scale across all economies.' (Laybourn-Langton, Rankin, & Baxter, 2019)

Ideally, any transition, even if unprecedented in scale, would be measured, rather than rushed: 'Transitional policies should aim to enable a steady transition – one in which emitters are neither overly disrupted nor so protected that there is no incentive to change.' (Upton, 2019, p.11). However, 30 years of policy prevarication have left little time in which to make this transition of unprecedented scale, without significant disruption. Reputable climate scientists have warned that 'responses based on marginal changes to the current trajectory of the human enterprise— "fiddling at the edges"—risk the collapse of large segments of the human population or of globalised contemporary society as whole' (Steffen et al., 2011). Carbon emission reductions of at least 5% per year (i.e. a halving each decade) may appear rushed in some sectors, but are now required.

The 2018 IPCC report on 1.5 degrees of warming points to accelerated emission reductions of about 45% by 2030, i.e. over about a decade, followed by further reductions aiming at close to zero carbon by 2050. Economists such as Burke support this by pointing to large gains from hewing as close as possible to the Paris targets, and large losses if temperatures rise. Kormann (2019), citing Burke (2018), writes that 'if nations met their [current] commitments under the Paris Agreement, the world would still see the average global temperature rise by two and a half to three degrees Celsius which...would result in a fifteen-to-twenty-five-per-cent reduction in per capita output by 2100.'

The actuality of such economic and social disruption will be layered on top of the impacts due to climate disruption that are already 'baked into' the climate system. Disruption from mitigation itself can be minimised by thoughtful (but urgent) policy measures, compensation for those most disrupted and accelerated investment in innovative practices and technologies.

We have already seen political resistance among some affected by the likely stranding of their assets as transition gets underway. Further, more intense resistance is inevitable, threatening successful transition, but will need to be faced down if enormous environmental, economic and social damage is to be avoided. A *first theme* of this paper is that a 'rapid and far-reaching' transition is essential to preserve what we can of climate stability, but will be a disruptive, hotly contested, politically demanding and uncertain process.

A key consequence of a compelling need to reduce emissions by enough to have a strong chance of averting catastrophic climate change is that policy 'effectiveness', in relation to reducing carbon emissions needs to become a higher priority than efficiency. This is the second theme of this paper. Effectiveness amounts to emissions abatement potential. At any time, with limited policy maker attention, it makes most sense to focus first on policies which can cut emissions a lot. For example, in the short run, encouraging a switch to electric vehicles is an effective policy, probably more effective than reshaping cities to be more compact and improve mobility and access. EV promotion might not be highly efficient, as EVs may often simply perform unnecessary trips with lower emissions, creating negative effects such as congestion and the validation of sprawl (Rees, 2014), but it can be effective in the short term. In the medium to longer run, policies to reshape cities and improve public transport will be more efficient, taking into account the cobenefits of more compact cities. Harvey, Orvis et al. (2018) estimate that 'urban mobility' policies would be more effective in generating carbon savings over 2020-2050 than vehicle electrification. So reshaping cities is vital, but should be recognised as a medium to longer-term contribution to the mitigation challenge, even if it needs to get underway before long given the implementation lags involved. Privileging effectiveness points to an initial emphasis on policies with immediate effect, while longer-term policies are developed to improve the efficiency and quality of life of city regions.

Romer's endogenous growth argument is important here (Zenghelis, 2019a): in short, optimising future policy pathways via 'integrated assessment models' of estimated income, cost and 'efficiency' is misleading, as it is difficult to accurately predict the costs of mitigation, including how the global economy will adapt and innovate to limit costs. The costs could be significantly less than a number of modellers have projected since, if a climate-effective path is adopted, innovation and growth will develop around (become endogenous to) that path. In simpler language, 'the lesson of the last decade is that costs fall when there is a concerted effort to act' and that the economic impact of reducing emissions to net-zero 'are likely to be small globally and in the UK and could turn out to be positive' (CCC, 2019). An example of this is the prospect that transport will see net savings, rather than costs, in the transition to net-zero: electric vehicles are likely to have lower upfront and lifetime running costs in roughly a decade (Carbon Brief, 2019).

Conversely, pessimistic estimates of mitigation costs would discourage businesses and governments from investing in new technologies, slowing the rate at which costs come down, and making decarbonisation more costly.

A **third** and related theme is that the shift from a framework focused on optimising for economic growth to one based on the purposeful pursuit of **well-being**, including climate stability, as outlined in the sustainable development goals, also has major implications for urban transitions, and the way that mitigation is framed for cities. The framing in the past has been narrow. For example, historically, the policy direction in transport for cities has been expressed in terms of supporting mobility for economic growth, sometimes with social progress (including health) identified, but often with externalities such as climate change seen as a lower priority consideration (Government Office for Science, 2019, p.112). That order of priorities is not consistent with guaranteeing a transition to zero carbon. A framing around well-being directs attention to impacts of mitigation policies on different income and social groups (Banister, 2018), with the policy implication being that adjustment assistance to those most affected is essential. There has been a dearth of research on who gains and who loses from the urban politics of mitigation (Bulkeley, 2010). A focus on equity as part of well-being is central to good design and management of the transition process.

A **fourth** theme is that the systemic nature of cities has a profound effect on the nature of the policy approaches required to mitigate urban emissions, and the means by which we can overcome barriers to mitigation. This is most evident when we consider the co-benefits of carbon emissions mitigation. For example, a systems approach suggests that policies to adjust urban form can contribute not only to mitigating transport emissions, but also to important goals such as improved health and the quality of life of local communities. The state of understanding of co-benefits is inadequate -- the IPCC comments that 'societal co-benefits of the modelled transformations remain largely unaccounted for' (IPCC, 2018c, p.32). This means that more work on co-benefits is urgent. It does not mean that they can be ignored; they can

be critical to the transition. Improving health, in particular, is a strong motivator of emission reductions (Bain et al., 2016; Myers, Nisbet, Maibach, & Leiserowitz, 2012) and action is less likely to occur in the absence of health arguments.

The remainder of this paper develops these themes in reverse order across several sections, structured as follows. The next section (Section 2) starts with the fourth theme, taking a systems perspective and **considering how cities** (i.e. cities and their regions) contribute to the climate change problem, the key role they can play in the mitigation solution, what is special about cities, the barriers faced by cities, and broadly how a climate-neutral urban transition can be facilitated.

Section 3 focuses on how urban mitigation can be made more **coherent and purposeful**. It develops the third theme by addressing how rethinking the cost-benefit analysis of policy measures in an urban context can make an important contribution, especially when critical co-benefits are considered. In addition, it addresses the question of how to shift other aspects of the current policy framework towards one better suited to transition. Section 4 addresses the **role of policy instruments and infrastructure investment**, contributing to the second theme around policy effectiveness, and harking back to the first theme of unprecedented disruption. Section 5 departs from the four themes, discussing **governance and institutional dynamics** and the critical question of the distributional impacts of transition policies.

A word on this paper's scope. This analysis focuses on mitigation in the city-focused domains of energy, transport and buildings. For example, it includes aspects of the energy sector (while recognising that much energy is generated outside city regions), but excludes food production and industry, sectors which are largely outside the regulatory domain of cities.¹ While most examples of mitigation are from OECD countries, many of the policy messages are also relevant to other countries, whose actions will often weigh the most in terms of overall global emission reductions.

2 The role of cities and regions in the necessary transition

"Nations talk; cities act." – Michael Bloomberg, former Mayor of New York City

2.1 Cities are a major part of the carbon emissions problem, but the problem is systemic

Cities and city regions contribute disproportionately to CO_2 emissions: it is estimated that the total greenhouse gas (CO_2 , CH_4 , N_2O and SF_6) contribution of urban areas globally was between 37% and 49% of total global greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in 2000 (Seto et al., 2014, p.927). However, for CO_2 alone, the responsibility of cities is probably closer to 76% (*ibid*), greater than cities' share of global population. In considering this, it is important to note that there is debate about the effective boundaries of cities. The OECD has suggested an economic emphasis in defining cities, arguing that 'urban areas can be characterised by densely inhabited "urban cores" and "hinterlands" whose labour market is highly integrated with the cores'; i.e. they are 'functional economic units' (OECD, 2012). Socio-cultural factors such as a sense of place are also important in defining cities.

In considering the emissions intensity of city dwellers compared to those in rural areas or small towns, the latter's emissions are often comparatively high: one expert puts it that, generally, 'wealthy households living in small urban centres or rural areas have higher carbon dioxide emissions per person than households with the same level of wealth living in cities (because of, for example, more automobiles, more automobile use and larger, worse-insulated houses).' (Satterthwaite, 2008, p.541). This is supported by other sources. A key factor is the type of urban form in question: even within one nation, some large cities (e.g. New York) have lower emissions per capita than smaller, more suburban cities, such as Oklahoma City (Glaeser & Kahn, 2010). The disparities in emissions are also a matter of 'development' and incomes; in poorer countries, emissions per capita are low in rural areas, but tend to rise as populations urbanise. Cities typically have bigger concentrations of higher income groups with higher emissions.

Cities depend on long supply chains, often global in nature. Therefore, when determining their emission reduction strategies, cities and their regions also need to consider their carbon footprint from a consumption perspective. In other words, cities need to take account of the footprint of imported goods and services, and ways to reduce these. Gothenburg in Sweden set a consumption based emissions target in 2014, one of the first to do so (Falk, Gaffney, & colleagues, 2018).

Given the interdependence of cities, their hinterlands and the wider economic system, the allocation of responsibility for emissions among cities, their regions and other regions is ultimately less important than understanding how emissions can be most effectively reduced in each component, i.e. the solutions available. Furthermore, decarbonisation solutions for cities – such as electrification of much transport – may compete against solutions in other parts of the economic system. For example, decarbonisation of most industrial products (e.g. cement, steel, ethylene, ammonia) is likely to demand a great deal of low-

cost electricity, especially where those industries do not face environmentally realistic carbon prices (de Pee, Pinner, Roelofson, & colleagues, 2018).

2.2 Why is the contribution of cities so critical?

Crosscutting policy instruments such as a price on carbon are usually implemented at the national level (or state level, in federal countries such as the US). Cities nevertheless provide critical emission reduction opportunities, as cities typically have jurisdiction over some sectors such as buildings and parts of transportation, and other local infrastructure. Importantly, cities are usually able to take mitigation action independently of, and more rapidly than, national level governments. They are also motivated to take action as many of the co-benefits of mitigation accrue locally.

Cities are the pre-eminent spaces of innovation in the global economy. Since they generate higher incomes than rural or semi-rural areas in most countries, they tend to have the resources and the scale to get change underway. The very reasons why cities exist, to allow easier social and economic exchange – yielding 'gains from agglomeration' -- mean ideas proliferate and develop more readily in urban environments. Nimbler responses are also facilitated by cities being centres of innovation, and testbeds for mitigation experiments and pilots (Castán Broto & Bulkeley, 2013). They can deploy their significant procurement powers, but in addition, they can support smart city technologies and set an example of progressive emission reduction targets. In a world in which the exact shape of dynamism and disruption is not foreseeable, what is clear is that we are likely to be pleasantly surprised by the capacity of cities to generate, develop and implement technological and social innovations, from e-scooters to local housing intensification strategies.

The main reason cities are so critical at this moment is because of lock-in. Cities can make a huge contribution, on the upside, to enabling a zero-carbon transition, but on the downside they also have the potential for locking in a pattern of energy-, building- and transport-related carbon emissions that cannot be easily undone. Urbanisation is currently so rapid that the shape of future cities is literally being set in concrete, decade by decade, as urbanisation proceeds. Typically, this urbanisation is unnecessarily diffuse: urban land cover is expanding at twice the rate of urban population growth (Global Covenant of Mayors, 2018). The problem of lock-in is, of course, not limited to cities, but cities' form and infrastructure represent the longest-living economic asset that humanity has, over the centuries, constructed: few large assets have endured nearly as long as cities such as Athens and London. Early action on sprawl is critical to minimise lock-in. The long service life of buildings, transport systems and other infrastructure means they are costly to reconfigure.

Moreover, given that carbon emissions must be reduced overall to net zero by around 2050 to minimise the risk of global warming of more than 1.5C (Global Covenant of Mayors, 2018), inadequate mitigation by cities would imply greater pressure for action falling on other parts of the economic and social system, such as food production in the rural economy, energy generation, and industry.² This pressure would increase as climate change intensifies. We could also expect political tension -- resentment of and resistance to any special pleading by cities, and potentially a reduced willingness of those outside cities to act. Some trade-exposed industry (e.g. food exporting sectors) under pressure to make rapid emission reductions would likely be resistant to change, due to their greater competitiveness challenges, relative to 'sheltered' sectors such as urban transport. Inadequate action by cities might cause an undermining or fracturing of carefully constructed coalitions for climate action. In short, we could expect a range of negative consequences from cities not 'pulling their weight' in terms of mitigation.

2.3 What could hold cities back?

The nature of cities as complex systems means mitigation strategies face the difficulty of working across sectoral and political boundaries; strategies have to struggle to be congruent with a wider set of objectives, and city or regional policies have to be reconciled with state and national policies where at all possible. System effects within cities can also create trade-offs. For example, promoting electric vehicles may act to the detriment of urban public transportation, creating conditions which are less conducive to wider goals such as reduced urban congestion and adequate physical activity. Another example is that simply relocating a polluting industry (to the benefit of a city's carbon footprint) may have zero effect on overall emissions if the industry simply moves elsewhere in the country (Bai, Dawson, Ürge-Vorsatz, Delgado, & colleagues, 2018). System interactions might also mean other sectoral policies, such as for electricity generation, could cut across urban decarbonisation goals. Notwithstanding falling prices over time for renewable power generation in many countries, strong upward pressure on energy prices in some instances could limit short-run electric vehicle take-up. In a world of falling 'energy return on energy invested' (EROEI), and increasing competition among sectors for energy and capital resources, the energy transition could be characterised by rising energy prices and downward pressure on incomes (Režný & Bureš, 2019).

Acknowledging the multi-level systemic nature of cities means recognising that city governments have a complicated governance task. First, even aside from the challenges of policy alignment beyond their jurisdiction, they need to manage and balance the aspirations of multiple sectors, which they regulate or support, through instruments such as building efficiency regulation and land use management. This can be complex where building standards are set nationally but affect local building outcomes, and local councils have legal responsibilities for monitoring and compliance. What local government does here can ripple through markets for years after implementation: for example, land use regulation that impedes intensification can mean that public transport investment is less economic, discouraging and slowing a transition to lower-carbon transport, increasing energy use and raising carbon emissions.

Second, cities need to recognise that their constituencies are increasingly turning from one-dimensional outcome measures (such as economic growth) to a richer set of outcome measures, including addressing inequality and enhancing resilience and sustainability, as embodied in the UN's Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Cities' tasks require wider competency and encounter more complex challenges of coordination and integrated management. This change builds on a shift 'from traditional conceptions of [and preoccupation with] agglomeration economies to the capacity of urban areas to adopt a sustainable model for their natural resources and to reduce income disparities and marginalisation.' (OECD, 2012)

An important part of this more challenging task, in the context of a zero-carbon transition, is a more sophisticated consideration of co-impacts of mitigation and attention to equity impacts. Understanding and profiling co-benefits and equity-enhancing dimensions of policies is necessary to support change makers' ability to summon sufficient political support for a coherent mitigation strategy.

2.4 How can urban transitions be facilitated?

In thinking about strategies and transition pathways that work well for complex systems, attention is usefully directed to both *leverage points* and *barriers*. Leverage points are 'places in the system where a small change could lead to a large shift in behaviour.' (Meadows, 2009), and provide critical opportunities. These are discussed below in section 3.5 in more detail.

In the energy sector, for example, high leverage opportunities arise in the transition to renewables. A wide variety of low-income communities are gaining access to renewable energy resources, such as biomass, wind and solar power. An International Council for Science report noted that 'progress in making use of those potentials could help to reduce poverty, as long as the benefits accrue to local suppliers.' (M Nilsson,

Griggs, McCollum, & Stevance, 2017, p.131). Leverage strategies that facilitate investment in such resources could unleash economic opportunity and reduce poverty as well as assisting in emission reduction.

A second example of a leverage point is infrastructure renewal opportunities, to improve building energy (and carbon) efficiency. New York City recently passed a bill to require building energy efficiency measures cutting 50,000 large buildings' carbon emissions by 20% by 2030, on track in principle to 80% cuts by 2050. Building owners will be eligible for modest incentives, such as low-interest loans and, for buildings with clear track records, less frequent façade inspections, saving them resources which could be reallocated to the energy efficiency improvements (A. Howden-Chapman, 2018; Urban Green Council, 2018).

A rather different instance of leverage is where a few key opinion-leading cities take mitigation action, encouraging others. Such tipping effects can work at country level, with just a few trendsetter nations which exemplify change causing a qualitative shift in the investment environment (Sterl, Hagemann, & colleagues, 2017). There is no reason why such behaviour should not be similarly transmitted among and from leading cities. Cities can lead through such programmes as San Francisco switching its large buildings to 100% renewable electricity by 2030 (Fracassa, 2019); and community solar, the aim of which is to reduce the upfront cost barriers to low-income households contributing to a community investment process which pools modest investment sums to achieve more rapid solar growth (Galluci, 2019).³

In the transport sector, greater leverage is realised when a wider range of policy tools is used more or less together. Transport experts note that transport policies can behave in complementary ways to reinforce desired effects such as making active travel attractive (Pucher, Dill, & Handy, 2010; Scheepers et al., 2014). Moreover, it is difficult to disentangle the effects of individual policy measures when they are implemented as part of a systemic programme. Additionally, where multiple aims (health, environmental, etc.) are being sought, intersectoral collaboration is beneficial (Scheepers et al., 2014).

The other side of positive points of leverage in the transport sector is the political reaction by those fearful of any eclipse of established development patterns. Filion warns about political resistance to moving away from a suburban/ex-urban dominated model of land transport investment focused on highway construction ('suburban inertia') (Filion, 2015).

One possible alternative to relying on leverage points is to place reliance on 'big bang' solutions. However, Levin et al. argue that 'one-shot "big bang" policies for super wicked problems, which require behavioural change by all relevant populations immediately, either fail to garner adequate support or, in those rare cases where such policies are adopted, are likely to produce societal "shocks" that hamper implementation and compliance, derailing a policy no matter how well designed. Even if such a policy survives, rarely do decision makers assess how the policy might be designed to ratchet up over time to become more ambitious.' (Levin, Cashore, Bernstein, & Auld, 2012)

2.5 The context in which cities must act: urgency and capacity

In thinking about urban changes necessary to establish a credible transition pathway, it is important to have a clear understanding (even if provisional) of the implications of the ambition and pace of mitigation required.

'Climate neutrality' implies, for consistency with the IPCC (IPCC, 2018c), '**net** zero', i.e. allowing for negative emissions technology such as bio-energy with carbon dioxide capture and storage ('BECCS'), or very extensive afforestation. It implies that global net anthropogenic CO₂ emissions decline by about 45% from 2010 levels by 2030. The IPCC notes that reliance on carbon dioxide removal technology is a 'major risk' (IPCC, 2018c, p.32), and others note the likelihood of delay in ramping-up carbon capture and storage (Rockström et al., 2017; Smil, 2011), so the intergenerational ethical case for such reliance is questionable.

Net zero implies, then, a less demanding goal than zero gross carbon emissions by 2050 since it enables gross emissions to fall somewhat more slowly when they can be offset by growth of removals by sinks.⁴ However, it is nevertheless a very demanding goal. A trajectory towards 1.5°C (the aspirational goal of the Paris agreement) 'implies very ambitious, internationally cooperative policy environments that transform both supply and demand (high confidence)'(IPCC, 2018c). Moreover, if developed countries take into account the need for more atmospheric 'head room' for developing countries to make a slower transition to zero carbon, there is a corresponding implication that they should reduce their own emissions more rapidly. The UK's CCC was cognisant of its global role (and historical responsibility) when it recently recommended to the UK government that the UK adopt a 100% by 2050 mitigation commitment.⁵

There are undoubtedly questions about the capacity of the global governance and political system to effect the needed carbon transition in an appropriate timeframe. It has been estimated, using a Bayesian analysis focusing on carbon intensity and GDP, that the likelihood of staying within 1.5°C by 2100 is around 1%, and the likelihood is less than 5% for staying within 2°C (Raftery, Zimmer, Frierson, Startz, & Liu, 2017). No one can entirely rule out staying within such limits, but achieving such goals, they argue, would 'require carbon intensity to decline much faster than in the recent past.' (p.637). On governance capacity, the IPCC note that 'lack of global cooperation, lack of governance of the required energy and land transformation, and increases in resource-intensive consumption are key impediments to achieving 1.5°C pathways. Governance challenges have been related to scenarios with high inequality and high population growth in the 1.5°C pathway literature' (IPCC, 2018c), but are not limited to such countries.

Juat as there is wide variance among countries and cities in their capacity to mitigate carbon emissions, so there is among cities and regions. These differences in capacity interact with perceptions that major inequity has developed over time among and within countries in terms of historical carbon emissions per capita. This uneven history and uneven 'ambition' may be important in the motivation of transitions (UNEP, 2018). Less developed cities and regions may be les motivated to invest in rapidly mitigating emissions before comparatively rich cities and nations have demonstrated high commitment to policy action and engaged in appropriate technology transfer. In this context, efforts by all countries to be transparent about the strategies which they and their cities are adopting will be important in encouraging greater efforts.

3 Ensuring coherent and purposeful urban transition policies

3.1 Ensuring the strategic framework is coherent

The IPCC suggests that governments' strategic framework choices in the past may not have been entirely appropriate: '...large system transformations, similar to those in 1.5°C pathways, require prioritizing an evolutionary and behavioural framework in economic theory rather than an optimization or equilibrium framework as is common in current IAMs [Integrated assessment models].'

Certainly, there is a strong argument that an economic optimisation framework is not well suited to discussing transformative changes of the scale involved in effective climate change mitigation, whether for cities, regions or nations. An optimisation framework became inappropriate as the world moved, after WW2, out of the equilibrium of the Holocene, in which a small perturbation in climate conditions could be imagined and managed, and into the Anthropocene (Hamilton, 2016; Steffen et al., 2011). An optimisation approach founders on the complexity of the systems at issue, uncertainty in climate damage cost curves and in abatement cost functions, and the deliberate nature of the transition needed to a zero carbon economy. The challenge now is to stabilise as much as possible the rate of growth in global temperature, by constructing a purposeful transition involving carbon reductions of around 50% per decade (Rockström et al., 2017). However, in these circumstances, it is by no means clear that moving to an 'evolutionary and behavioural' framework, as the IPCC suggests, is an optimal or indeed safe prescription.

Evolutionary processes are ones in which there is a steady process of reproduction, variation and selection. Evolutionary policy learning can certainly help with purposeful strategies for mitigation, through encouraging diverse innovations, and learning what policy measures work, via policy experiments that reflect on system behaviour and desired social outcomes. But an evolutionary framework is more suitable for characterising processes of change in the past rather than establishing those needed today, in the face of a need for accelerated change (R. Chapman, Howden-Chapman, & Capon, 2016). It is now more widely accepted that public policy must play a central role 'in shaping the directionality of transitions through environmental regulations, standards, taxes, subsidies, and innovation policies.' (Köhler, Geels, Kern, & colleagues, 2019). Loorbach suggests that this process might be accelerated by phasing out undesired practices and technologies.⁶

The enormity of 50% per decade emission reductions across the economy, including cities, and the need to maintain social cohesion during this process, mean that neither a minimal-government 'wait and see' stance, nor the market-based pursuit of individual consumer lifestyles (Jackson, 2009), are now acceptable. Instead, a focused role for government in *purposefully shaping* collective behaviour towards consumer and environmental restraint (fossil energy use restraint in particular) and the pursuit of a rapid but just transition seem more reasonable.

What sort of policy processes could accelerate purposeful change? Costanza (2014) argues that tools such as scenario planning can encourage people to envisage and design more sustainable futures, including a future for commons such as the atmosphere. It would require the design of 'rules, norms and

institutions' to guide the transition we wish for, 'motivated at the individual level by a vision of a better life.' The IPCC also supports the contribution of a vision-led path: 'Pathways that encompass joint, iterative planning and transformative visions, for instance... in urban contexts, show potential for liveable and sustainable futures (high confidence).' (IPCC, 2018c, p.46).

While vision-led scenario planning is less likely to be feasible politically at higher levels, i.e. for the city region and nation, it can work well at the local community and arguably the city level. Ostrom's effective governance criteria of appropriate group size and cohesion are relevant (Ostrom, 2010). There are frequently opportunities presenting themselves at city level, which can help urban communities to shape their future.

However, even if vision-led local processes can be established as a guide for purposeful urban transformation, there is too much at stake in terms of the necessary speed and reach of the transition process for it to be left by central government to local government alone. Business, households, NGOs, and unions can all play valuable roles, responding creatively to the vision and goals of the transformation. Establishing a broadly accepted vision is a key multi-level process, but will not be easy. In many cities and countries, a transition vision is so far little more than rhetoric (Klinenberg, 2016). We address below (section 5) some of the options for shaping this process to be more democratic.

As well as a guiding vision, an important element will be taking advantage of opportunities that occur month by month and year by year, driven by exigencies other than climate risk. Older cities have to keep updating infrastructure and, where cities are urbanising rapidly, there are critical opportunities for design of appropriate, sustainable infrastructure (Ernst, de Graaf-Van Dinther, Peek, & Loorbach, 2016; The Global Commission on the Economy and Climate, 2014, 2018).⁷ This includes investment in zero- or low-carbon infrastructure such as efficient public transportation and distributed renewable energy generation, and a determination to avoid the lock-in of high-carbon infrastructure (Seto et al., 2016; Unruh & Carrillo-Hermosilla, 2006). Infrastructure updates can be aligned with introduction of other urban policies such as congestion pricing, motivated largely by non-climate goals, as in New York (Komanoff, 2018; Paybarhah, 2019), a workplace parking levy (Breach, 2018), or improving underground transport systems (Calma, 2019).

3.2 From incremental opportunism to a cohesive investment strategy

To date, it can be argued that such opportunities, often presented under the rubric of 'eco-efficiency', have not been taken up fast enough. There have been steady gains in the urban or wider economy (e.g. in the falling cost of battery electric vehicles; better waste management) but rarely have such gains added up to the scale of change needed. A notable standout has been efficiency measures since the 1970s in California – a study found that had the other 49 states reduced fossil fuel use relative to economic activity at the same pace as California, nationwide carbon emissions would have been lower in 2016 by 1.2 billion tonnes, or 24 percent (Komanoff, Cavanagh, & Miller, 2019) – although the report notes that the US will have to reduce its fossil fuel dependence more than three times as fast as the California rate to meet its Paris climate commitment. Moreover, '[t]here is a risk that ... [seeking efficiency gains] will simply embed unsustainable practices. Fuel-efficient motor cars are not enough, for example. To make sufficiently deep cuts in land transport emissions we will need alternatives to the automobile...' (Woodward, 2019, p.13).

Romer's endogenous growth theory is valuable here in developing a view of the economy (including the urban economy) as a dynamic whole, where innovation is critical. As introduced in section 1 above, appraising future policy pathways via elaborate but essentially static models focused on estimating income, cost and 'efficiency' impacts is misleading, as the economy is constantly and dynamically adapting and innovating (Zenghelis, 2019b). With a static view of the economy, the costs of decarbonising appear very large. Yet there have been huge reductions in the cost of critical resources such as renewable energy and battery storage in the last decade.⁸ This transformation is not simply because incremental change can add

up to major gains over time in practice and expertise when innovation incentives are very strong. There is also a powerful dynamic interaction among these factors, which can also be boosted by public investment. The IPCC notes that '[a]ccumulated know-how, accelerated innovation and public investment play a key role in (rapid) transitions (Geels et al., 2017; Michaelowa et al., 2018)'. The IPCC (IPCC, 2018, p.2-76) and Mazzucato (2018) also point out that public investment has usually been critical to successfully and innovatively steering in a new direction.

There is a deeper process going on – system transformation. Zenghelis notes that '[n]one predicted that renewables would become the dominant source of energy investment in the first quarter of this century – or the expansion in LED lighting from less than 5 per cent to more than 40 per cent of the global market in the past six years.' These dynamics are difficult to predict, but they are the result of market actors and governments sensing change and investing accordingly, even while some resist change at the risk of locking in outdated assets and stranding their investments. Indeed, this is in the face of arguments and modelling 'that overstate the cost of decarbonisation [and] discourage businesses and policymakers from investing in renewables and energy efficiency. This slows the rate at which the costs come down, making decarbonisation harder.' (Zenghelis, 2019a). Acemoglu and others also underline the important role of the state and municipality in supporting change and innovation (Acemoglu, García-Jimeno, & Robinson, 2015).

For *cities*, what is required is a set of policies and measures that powerfully reinforce significant changes in related parts of the urban system, so that the transformation of the whole becomes greater than the sum of the changes in the parts. As noted above, this process of mutually supporting innovation is likely to take place faster in cities than elsewhere, because of cities' high degree of internal interconnection. Historically, the emergence of the Renaissance in Florence is a pre-eminent example of such fertile transformation (Weiner, 2016). With modern information and communications technology, such changes are likely to be more rapid. An incipient transformation also has a chance of generating a supporting sense of social and cultural change to a better quality of life. An important localised example of mutually reinforcing change is where changes in urban form and transport infrastructure, shaped by the local government, reinforce a reduction in use of private fossil fuelled vehicle transport, and a sea change in the practices of living in a city, such as the mutually reinforcing and congestion-reducing take-up of walking, cycling and public transport, alongside e-bikes and e-scooters.

3.3 Growth, well-being and the SDGs

Economists such as Romer and Nordhaus have largely been focused on economic growth impacts when carbon mitigation is at issue, along with many national leaders and international voices concerned with least cost interventions. However, a major shift is starting to occur in policy makers' objective functions: a shift from growth goals to wellbeing-related goals, including climate change (Gurria, 2017; Daniel W. O'Neill, Andrew L. Fanning, William F. Lamb, & Julia K. Steinberger, 2018; Robertson, 2019).

It is not as clear, now, that economic growth necessarily contributes to wellbeing. In the ongoing debate about this, one stance is that 'We can have growth that is strong, sustainable, balanced, and inclusive' (The Global Commission on the Economy and Climate, 2018, p.1). Another stance, that of Herman Daly and others is to question 'whether ever-rising incomes for the already-rich are an appropriate goal for policy in a world constrained by ecological limits' (Jackson, 2009, p. 6). This raises distributional issues of who benefits from growth. However, a helpful way of framing this debate may be to adopt the approach of van den Bergh, who argues 'that "a-growth," i.e. being indifferent about growth, is a more logical social aim to substitute for the current goal of economic growth, given that GDP (per capita) is a very imperfect indicator of social welfare' or well-being (Van den Bergh, 2011). He argues that an explicit focus on critical goals such as environmental and social sustainability should be foremost.

Focusing on both environmental goals and limits – especially those already being transgressed (Daniel W O'Neill, Andrew L Fanning, William F Lamb, & Julia K Steinberger, 2018) -- *and* socioeconomic foundations

leads us to the conclusion that all nations need to do better at avoiding the sacrifice of environmental systems for short-term economic gains. It is clear that 'no nation is providing an adequate socioeconomic foundation while keeping environmental impacts to within sustainable limits' (Laybourn-Langton et al., 2019, p.25; Daniel W O'Neill et al., 2018). This message is underlined by the recent report of the UN's IPBES on the critical rates of loss of biodiversity (UN IPBES, 2019). As cities are central to all nations' economies, this observation applies as much to cities as to nations. Cities can and must do better in providing critical socioeconomic foundations while minimising environmental impacts.

The UN Sustainable Development Goals are a convenient if diffuse way of aiming to ensure that the full range of socioeconomic and environmental foundations are protected. For current purposes, the critical SDGs aside from climate action (SDG13) are sustainable cities and communities (SDG11), affordable and clean energy (SDG7), and good health and well-being (SDG3) (M. Nilsson, Griggs, Visbeck, Ringler, & McCollum, 2017). The UN argues that the SDGs are integrated and indivisible; certainly, there are strong interactions among the SDGs above (P. Howden-Chapman et al., 2017).

For example, measures to clean up air pollution can also mitigate climate change. Haines *et al.* make the point that mitigation of short-lived climate pollutants (SLCPs) such as methane, black carbon and HFCs can 'reduce the rate of global warming and protect against the increasing impacts of climate change' during the near term (Haines et al., 2017, p.868). Reduction of SLCPs can reduce immediate damage but this is not an argument for delays in carbon mitigation policies (Shoemaker & Schrag, 2013). Measures that are particularly important in cities include the reduction of black carbon from diesel fuel use by deploying Euro VI standards and diesel particulate filters for on-road and off-road vehicles. SLCP measures can contribute directly to achieving SDG target 3.9 to reduce the number of deaths from pollution by preventing around 2.4 million deaths related to outdoor air pollution annually by 2030 (Haines et al., 2017).

3.4 Rethinking cost-benefit analysis to facilitate the transition; the role of cobenefits

The mitigation policy debate to date has largely been framed in terms of cost-effectiveness – i.e. what is the comparative cost of various policies in achieving a tonne of carbon dioxide reduction at the margin? This has led to an undue focus on comparative costs without sufficient attention to benefits of different policies, most often because good data are not available about those benefits.

The most obvious example of this has been the usefully simplifying construct of the marginal abatement cost (MAC) curve, e.g. as produced by McKinsey and Co since 2007 (McKinsey & Company, 2009). The assumption is that a country should move incrementally up its MAC curve, starting with negative cost opportunities, until the targeted level of abatement is reached. Little consideration has been paid to co-impacts of mitigation, a crucial oversight where the co-impacts are significant. Consideration of them can change the order and rapidity with which abatement takes place. For example, as more is learnt about the drastic health costs of poor air quality, it becomes clearer that there are substantial co-benefits from abating power plant emissions in many countries, lowering both carbon emissions and air pollutants. One estimate is that in 'the 15 countries with the highest greenhouse gas emissions, the damage to health from poor air quality, largely associated with the burning of fossil fuels, is valued at an average of over 4% of GDP' (The Global Commission on the Economy and Climate, 2014, p.7).

There is a strong tactical case for identifying and emphasising these 'co-benefits'. Most people do not place climate change high in terms of everyday salience (Crawley, Coffe, & Chapman, 2019). They tend to focus instead on concerns such as health and education and well-being. Appealing to people to tackle climate change by cutting emissions will leave many of those people unmoved, but asking them to act to improve their health and well-being is much more likely to be motivating.

The IEA also notes that non-economic barriers to exploiting negative cost options can impede adoption of optimal mitigation policies. Supportive policies to remove barriers are therefore also required, to 'unlock cost-effective energy efficiency' potential (IEA, 2017). While the IEA's report on real-world policy packages for sustainable energy transitions mentions some barriers, such as lack of EV charging infrastructure, behavioural and social practice barriers are barely discussed.

As to research evidence, stronger empirical links between low carbon lifestyles and health are emerging (Gouldson, Sudmant, Khreis, & Papargyropoulou, 2018; P. L. Howden-Chapman, Keall, Conlon, & Chapman, 2015; Ürge-Vorsatz et al., 2016; Zapata Diomedi, Giles-Corti, Veerman, & Gunn, 2019). For example, a recent UK study establishes that residents of medium or higher-density urban areas, typically close to the inner city, are more active, more socially engaged, and less obese than people who live in low-density sprawling suburbia (Sarkar, Webster, & Gallacher, 2017). According to Sarkar, 'as cities get more and more compact, they become more walkable.' Denser residential areas tend to have destinations that are more attractive. People living in such areas are less dependent on cars, use public transport more, and walk more.

While emphasising co-benefits of (and surmountable barriers to) mitigation action is important, some argue that is unwise to place too much reliance on such an agenda (Woodward, 2019). Climate mitigation and health enhancement strategies do not align perfectly – there can be trade-offs as well as synergies. For example, the planned production by China of coal-based synthetic natural gas (SNG) as a substitute for coal fired power production, partly in order to reduce air pollution and improve health, is estimated to release significantly more CO_2 per kWh of electricity than existing coal-fired plants (Woodward, 2019), although this can be mitigated by carbon capture and storage (Qin et al., 2017). Woodward also warns that:

"... many of the examples of co-benefits apply to incremental changes. This may not be enough. Transformation of cities, energy, building styles, mobility and food systems may be required, in which case it is less clear how one would achieve health and climate savings simultaneously." (ibid, p.10)

However, this may be too cautious as a general prognosis. Other literature suggests powerful long-run linkages between more sustainable urban form and emissions reduction when key urban form drivers of carbon emission, such as density, land use mix, connectivity and accessibility, are considered, and in most cases, these changes will contribute to health and well-being. For example, the IPCC's 2014 report distilled solid evidence that 'co-locating higher residential densities with higher employment densities, coupled with significant public transit improvements, higher land use mixes, and other supportive demand management measures can lead to greater emissions savings in the long run.... (robust evidence, high agreement)' (p. 928). This implies that the way we build or upgrade cities, including where and how we put roads, and where we put what sort of building, deeply influences how much carbon is emitted in the longer term, largely because of transport (and sometimes-other energy use) choices, which can have significant health benefits.

The 2014-15 Global Commission on the Economy and Climate focused on global urbanisation and reached similar conclusions. The Commission concluded that well managed urban growth is critical for aligning well-being and prosperity with climate stability. Cities should be able to expand but should be as compact as possible, with higher densities, mixed neighbourhoods, be walkable and of human scale, redevelop brownfield sites, and ensure green space. Connected infrastructure, including smarter public transport, cycling, car sharing, electric cars and efficient buildings, have a strong complementary role. Too often, cities expand inefficiently, locking in inefficient infrastructure. This in turn can lock in emissions for the future. As an example, the Commission contrasted costs of transport in compact Copenhagen (about 4% of its gross domestic product) with that of sprawling Houston, where transport costs about 14% of its GDP and generates much higher emissions. They pointed out the large health gains and carbon savings possible from a scenario based on compact cities with connected infrastructure (e.g. global transport emissions could be cut about 1.5 billion tonnes per year). (Floater, Rode, Zenghelis, & Tonkiss, 2015).

The overall picture of transition within the energy, transport and buildings sectors in cities is that in some subsectors considerably more than incremental change is occurring: truly transformational change is taking place. However, two major problems remain. First, because of the nature and complexity of some of the subsystems – for example, energy systems in small buildings where owners are often small, fragmented and undercapitalised -- the pace of change in some subsectors appears to be still too slow to be consistent with the required pace of change for urban carbon emissions as a whole (about 50% per decade). Second, innovations that increase efficiency or new technologies tend to add capacity to the system rather than reducing overall emissions. The following section explores these matters further, noting areas for both optimism and caution.

3.5 Transition opportunities and limitations in urban systems

Energy opportunities

Developments in national energy generation systems make a large difference to carbon emissions from urban areas. For example, as the proportion of national electricity generation that is renewable increases over time, the gains from electric vehicle take-up rise proportionally.

Battery storage of electricity combined with advances in demand response management now present an important opportunity for cities to decentralise energy supply and improve resilience They enable big enough cost reductions that decentralised renewables generation (with electricity storage) becomes economically competitive even where carbon prices are low (the advantages over gas, for example, are higher when carbon prices rise). For example, incremental cost reductions for batteries have been fast – around 75% in the 'levelled' cost ('all-in' average annual cost) of lithium-ion battery storage since 2012 (Henze, 2019). This increases the potential for dispatchable solar and wind power generation (using 1-4 hour storage capacity), reducing dependence on gas peakers in the generation system, and improving the attractiveness of grid-edge decentralised renewable generation in cities (Finkelstein, Kane, & Rogers, 2019).

It is unclear whether countries and cities are driving a sufficiently rapid reconfiguration of electricity generation to be on a 1.5°C-consistent transition path. Some indications suggest not – such as the US reaching its highest ever energy consumption in 2018, of which 80% was fossil fuels (US EIA, 2019). Others point to the pipeline of coal fired power stations still being constructed (Mirabile & Calder, 2018). On the other hand, another assessment, drawing on the work of IPCC scientists, concluded that 'There are signs that a systemic transition consistent with a 1.5°C pathway may be underway in the electricity generation sector.' (Global Covenant of Mayors, 2018). Only if cities, nation states and business invest with resolve in renewables is it likely that a successful transition in this sector will gather the necessary momentum.

Transport opportunities

Emissions from the transportation sector – already at 23% of global energy-related CO₂ emissions – could double by 2050 in a worst case (Creutzig, Jochem, & colleagues, 2015), although available policy options mean this is by no means inevitable. What is striking about transportation is the co-existence to date of rapidly changing technologies, offering the potential for mode switching as well as greater efficiency, alongside the evident difficulty of cutting emissions. In the medium to long run the best answer to this conundrum may be a major rethink of the need for mobility, with a shift to an emphasis on access (R Chapman, 2018). In the meantime, expectations of achieving zero carbon in this sector are lower than for most sectors. One estimate is that the share of low carbon fuels (electricity, hydrogen and biofuel) for 1.5°C 'no or low overshoot scenarios' would need to be 12% in 2030 and 55% in 2050 (Global Covenant of Mayors, 2018), although fuel decarbonisation by no means exhausts the policy options for this sector.

To summarise first the main visible technological changes, rapid changes are occurring in vehicle and ride sharing; the development of autonomous vehicles; and electrification of cars, bikes and scooters (McKinsey and Co, 2019). There is potential for this to reach far further than seen to date, with development of various linked concepts, such as 'mobility as a service'. One estimate is that global adoption of shared, autonomous electric vehicles could cut the world's vehicle stocks by one-third (Bai et al., 2018). However, there are real risks in relation to congestion and energy use with autonomous vehicles if these are not shared (Calthorpe, 2017).

in a recent analysis of opportunities for carbon mitigation by cities, one of the four priority action areas identified was enabling 'next generation' mobility, through building 'complete, compact communities that meet the mobility needs of residents and business' (McKinsey Center for Business and Environment, 2017, p.7). Central aspects are transit-oriented development, and initiatives to encourage walking and cycling, alongside enabling uptake of next generation vehicles. Outcomes expected include reduced congestion and air pollution, more equitable access to mobility and better quality of life. McKinsey concluded that densification (see next section) was one of the biggest opportunities to reduce transportation emissions, especially in fast-growing cities.

The main limitation of this analysis, however, is that it emphasises mobility rather than improving access. Access goes beyond mobility. Walking and cycling (active travel) has huge co-benefits, given that the physical inactivity death toll globally is more than 3 million deaths a year, and is amenable to reduction (Brown, Diomedi, Moodie, Veerman, & Carter, 2016; R. Chapman et al., 2018). A recent Lancet Commission underlined that more exercise can reduce the incidence of major non-communicable diseases such as ischaemic heart disease, stroke, diabetes, colon and breast cancer, Alzheimer's disease, and depression (Whitmee et al., 2015). In short, many urban policies, which reduce emissions, especially those encouraging active travel, are also very important for health and well-being.

Urban planning opportunities

It is apparent that achieving sufficiently low-carbon urban transport is very difficult without assistance from urban planning. Conventional emission reduction scenarios focus on gains from energy efficiency and from the carbon intensity of fuels (gCO₂/MJ), but tend to underestimate the long-term emission savings possible from reducing transport demand growth via better urban planning, and from associated mode shifting. WHO researchers, Creutzig and others instead emphasise savings via a package that includes densification and other measures -- 'compact urban development, [as well as] bus rapid transit, bicycle highways and telecommuting' (Creutzig et al., 2015, p.911; WHO, 2011).

Decomposing urban form, Seto *et al.* (2014, p.927) argue that key 'urban form drivers of energy and GHG emissions are density, land use mix, connectivity, and accessibility (medium evidence, high agreement)'. Other authors support this, noting that density is not the only factor, and pointing to the interconnections between energy, transport, planning and built form. What this means is that strategies, which address several of these factors together – for example, by supporting compact urban development for a range of income groups at accessible locations, linked to quality transport infrastructure – will achieve greater leverage and co-benefits for health, quality of life and equity, as well as emission reductions. More recently, organisations such as the IEA have acknowledged the important role of urban form and planning in transport emission reduction (IEA, 2017, p.33).

As many scholars and policy advisers point out, adapting urban form is seldom easy. It requires concerted policy attention over years and decades. It also requires strategic investment in infrastructure at the regional level, in transport, energy, water and waste systems. None of this new infrastructure can now afford to be significantly carbon emitting.

For example, intensified housing infrastructure investment at nodes and along corridors, as well as additional 'transition arenas' in established suburbs, needs to be substantial in order to effect 'greyfield

transitions' (Newton, 2010). Significant planning and political challenges with greyfields (under-capitalised intermediate urban areas which are not greenfield or brownfields) include engaging effectively with neighbourhoods where change is expected, and how to change building and planning regulations that inhibit intensive development (Newton & Glackin, 2014). Resistance is to be expected in the form of NIMBYism ('not in my backyard'), protection of local character, and demands for local planning control. Such resistance often ignores the interests of younger generations seeking an affordable place to live (taking into account both housing and transport costs), or others who would prefer higher density housing to a long commute. But in addition, the displacement, exclusion and loss of community often caused by gentrification (Weller & van Hulten, 2012) needs to be directly addressed, through the inevitably political processes of planning and redistributional policies that recognise the need for support for low-wage workers who keep the city region running (Stein, 2019).

Hall and Banister (Hickman, Hall, & Banister, 2013), in the UK context, have cautioned that effective urban planning for low-carbon development is not straightforward. Low-carbon urban strategy development, funding and implementation, they argue, 'seems beyond the realms of the current governance structures' in the UK (Hickman et al., 2013, p.218) They note three requirements:

- a strong regional and sub-regional urban planning framework, where integrated strategies can be developed and pursued;
- an adequate funding stream and devolved financial power (at the city region level);
- land acquisition power and use of development value uplift, so that the public sector can buy the land before development occurs and gain from the value uplift, allowing the infrastructure investment to be paid for.

In many countries, like the UK, the separation of powers between local and national levels has made strategic urban and transport planning complex. This is amplified when urban form planning is weak, and/or separated from regional transport development. A change-resistant government at either level can veto effective, long-term transport or urban development investment, locking the urban system into a car-dependent pattern of development (R. Chapman, Howden-Chapman, Whitwell, & Thomas, 2017; Hickman et al., 2013). To overcome this requires consistent forward-looking and long-term urban planning and transport investment choices to be made which consciously prioritise climate change mitigation.

Even in a world of policy activism, it is clear that dramatic reductions in transport emissions in cities will be difficult to achieve. Some experts point to a 'combined mitigation potential in urban transport via spatial planning, transport pricing, and behavioural options amount[ing] to 20 to 50% between 2010 and 2050, compared with baseline.' (Creutzig et al., 2015). Ewing *et al.* (2007), in a US analysis, points to similar magnitudes of change. This is likely to mean a major shortfall relative to meeting the level of reductions envisaged by the IPCC 1.5-2C goal for 2030. It is evident that governments will need to adopt much more concerted and intensive urban planning measures, integrated with transport sector actions, to achieve credible reductions in the transport sector.

Other building sector opportunities

The global building stock in place in 2050 will need to have 80 to 90% lower emissions than 2010 levels to achieve a 1.5°C-consistent pathway (Global Covenant of Mayors, 2018). Moreover, such a pathway requires a minimum 5% annual rate of energy retrofits of *existing* buildings in developed countries, as well as all *new* buildings being built fossil-free and near-zero energy by 2020 (*ibid*). These are very ambitious requirements. It is not clear that any buildings are estimated to be responsible for almost 70 percent of the city's greenhouse gas emissions, and which now claims to have the 'largest carbon reduction effort by any city' (see section 2.4 above).⁹

The IEA notes that in the buildings sector, changes in the demand for electricity on the part of buildings 'are primarily driven by standards and regulation. In these sectors, a high carbon price plays a supportive role, but given lower price elasticities of demand they also require strong and complex packages of regulations and government investment to drive change.' (IEA, 2017, p.6).

Other analyses support this, pointing to the incentive barriers (landlord-tenant split incentives) in the residential and commercial building sectors, the slow pace with which programmes of insulation retrofitting have proceeded to date, and the high transaction costs for government of implementing upgrade requirements across a highly fragmented and distributed sector.

The C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group also sees local government as having a high degree of control over municipal buildings, such as city halls, government offices, hospitals, schools, libraries and museums, but also as providing a 'powerful opportunity to improve energy efficiency and reduce carbon emissions'. Moreover, municipal building energy efficiency improvements 'serve as a model for private buildings and inspire owners to take action.' (C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group, 2016) and may well stimulate the development of companies and individuals with valuable skills and expertise, e.g. in integrated energy systems.

4 Aligning the framework for transition: Instruments and infrastructure

4.1 Instruments: Pricing, regulation, first-best policy instruments and their limits

Having considered the systemic issues and barriers characteristic of urban systems, and how to make mitigation in cities more coherent, we return to a more general discussion of crosscutting policy instruments and institutions necessary for a zero-carbon transition. This section contributes to the second theme around policy effectiveness, and harks back to the first theme, of unprecedented disruption (Section 5 will deal with governance and political change.)

When effectiveness is critical, under conditions of urgency, there is a stronger argument that price instruments and indeed voluntary measures should defer to regulation, even if there are arguments that a carbon price is 'first best'. Consider the historical example of CFCs -- ozone-depleting substances whose increasing production and use especially in the 1970s put the health and safety of millions of people at risk. When it was confirmed in the 1980s that CFCs directly and rapidly damaged the ozone layer, it was widely accepted in most countries that, while a price instrument (such as a cap and trade system for CFCs) or voluntary regulation were feasible in principle, they were not optimal policy instruments in achieving a goal of a very rapid decline in CFC production and use. They essentially entailed sufficient uncertainty that the desired outcome could not be guaranteed in the time available. Interestingly, the European Community initially opted for a voluntary plan, but it proved ineffective, and in most nations a phase-down, and in short order a ban, were implemented (Doniger, 1988). There are of course major differences between the CFC history and that of fossil fuels, and the relative merits of instruments in terms of encouraging innovation are important. In general, more stringent regulation applying to fossil fuel use needs to be concentrated in the array of areas where there are ready alternatives in production or consumption, and where sectors are price-sensitive.

It is interesting to consider the choice of primary instrument adopted by New York City in mitigating carbon emissions from large buildings. As noted earlier, NYC's 2019 law mandates reductions in carbon emissions from the heating of large buildings of 40% by 2030. While carbon pricing could have been adopted (and in fact there will be limited trading for compliance flexibility under the law), the judgement appears to be that presenting building owners with a clear regulatory limit and timeframe will be more effective than a price on carbon emissions (or a price on fossil energy use).

Regulatory limits have the presentational advantage of making it evident to the public that action is being taken – i.e. demonstrating effectiveness. More importantly, they are likely to be more effective in the building sector because that sector is prone to market barrier issues such as the split incentives already

mentioned (e.g. tenants do benefit from insulation while landlords benefit little, but tenants are not in a position to invest the capital to improve building fabric and equipment). In such contexts, performance standards, especially ones that require regular upgrades, have been demonstrated to be effective (Harvey et al., 2018).

While, at a time of 'climate emergency' strict regulation of carbon emissions within particular sectors such as buildings has multiple attractions, a significant price on carbon may nevertheless be desirable in sectors such as transportation as a complementary step to motivate individual consumption decisions and constrain carbon emissions. Harvey et al. point to the proven effectiveness of vehicle performance standards in several countries, but combining such regulation with a carbon price so as to incentivise innovation may be still more effective (Acemoglu, Aghion, Bursztyn, & Hemous, 2012). Where there is a limited price elasticity of demand, the carbon price signal may have to be very high to significantly affect consumption and investment decisions. While it is widely accepted that confidence in rising future carbon prices can be a strong driver for long-lived low-carbon investment (such as switching to an electric vehicle) and for clean energy research, development and demonstration (IEA, 2017, p.12), such confidence generally does not yet exist. A sufficient carbon price trajectory is something of a chimera in most countries.¹⁰

Moreover, there is evidence that carbon prices in most countries are currently too low to reflect the full (global) social costs of carbon. A recent analysis (Ricke, Drouet, Caldeira, & Tavoni, 2018) suggests that the global social cost of carbon (the damage cost of another tonne of CO₂ emitted) is around US\$400 per tonne: no current carbon tax or emission trading scheme price approximates this, in practice, to date. Without a price on carbon fuels approaching this level, many critical transportation, building and energy decisions in cities (of both an investment and operational nature) will continue to be severely distorted in favour of carbon-intensive choices.

A word of caution on carbon pricing is important. Even if some urban policies took into account a price on carbon of say US\$400 per tonne, the value of carbon savings would sometimes still not be sufficient to change a given policy or investment decision. This is because other factors, for example congestion savings or health savings/dis-savings or labour productivity impacts might be big enough to swing a given decision in the carbon-intensive direction (R. Chapman et al., 2018). However, this need not matter greatly if many or most investment decisions are reoriented towards a significantly less carbon-intensive trajectory.

In practice, a price on carbon will in the short run not be enough, given two things. One is the weak state of policy coherence, and only slowly growing public acceptance of the need for vigorous mitigation action, in most countries. For example, a UNEP study, the 2018 Emissions Gap report, reported on a survey of domestic policies among G20 members. This survey found that reducing transport-related fossil fuel subsidies is covered by only 38% of G20 countries' policies. The OECD has underlined for around a decade that 'removing subsidies to energy consumption in a number of emerging and developing countries could drastically reduce their greenhouse gas emissions, by as much as 30% in some regions in 2050 compared to business-as-usual, and also contribute to increased economic efficiency.' (Gurria, 2009). The same UNEP report noted that overarching carbon pricing for the electricity sector was covered by only 44% of G20 countries (UNEP, 2018).¹¹

If we pull back for a broader overview of the energy sector, it is evident that, despite the introduction of some carbon pricing and complementary policies in the last two decades to encourage low-carbon energy generation, overall environmentally significant progress has been glacially slow. Wallace-Wells notes that in the 25 years since the early 1990s, the proportion of global energy use derived from renewables has not grown (Wallace-Wells, 2019b, p.178). Primary energy consumption reached a record high in 2018 (US EIA, 2019). The questions about such patterns, then, are 'Why so slow?' and whether the forces impeding stronger policies are diminishing.

One analysis suggests that political economy factors, such as governmental rents from fossil fuels and jobs in the fossil fuel industry, significantly affect electricity emissions, slowing mitigation. Moreover,

addressing vested interests in fossil fuels would assist in any decarbonisation strategy (Röttgers & Anderson, 2018). There is clearly a basis for concern about coherent governance, the strength of political resistance to change, and whether, more latterly, countries are doing more than paying lip service to the Kyoto and Paris agreements.

Second, a price on carbon will not be enough by itself since it is clear that innovation responds strongly to non-price factors. A strong argument can be made that 'climate policy requires direct research subsidies for inducing and/or diffusing clean innovations, combined with carbon pricing (whether by taxes or trading).'(Aghion, Hepburn, Teytelboym, & Zenghelis, 2014). This arises because technological and social innovation is a path-dependent process; and history and expectations matter greatly in determining costs and outcomes, as noted earlier. The policy conclusion is that policy (such as energy subsidies policy) must address relevant knowledge externalities. In practice, this suggests measures such as favourable tax treatment for firms involved in clean technology, and the underwriting of green infrastructure projects.

Aghion *et al.* also make the useful point that certain features of cities, such as density, can affect the effectiveness of carbon pricing: denser cities can more readily respond to carbon pricing by investing in effective public transport or induce travellers to take up public transport, for instance. Thus, path dependence can make it easier for relatively low-carbon cities to decarbonise further.

4.2 Infrastructure investment

It is estimated that 'around 60% of GHG emissions are hard-wired into existing infrastructure' (OECD, 2017, p.95). Accordingly, as much infrastructure investment as possible, preferably all, will need to be zero-carbon, given that some residual emissions will continue from costly infrastructure unlikely to be phased out by 2050. Moreover, the 'New Climate Economy' reports note the risk of poor urban management, including misguided infrastructure investment, locking in lower productivity, higher carbon emissions and social costs for decades to come (Floater et al., 2015). Zero-carbon infrastructure decisions made over the next decade or so are central to moving to, and locking in, a zero carbon, more productive, healthier urban system (Gouldson et al., 2018).

The OECD's modelling¹² for G20 countries suggests that a focus on low-carbon public transport infrastructure investment integrated with land use planning can significantly reduce overall infrastructure costs relative to a 'business as usual' scenario centring on motorised mobility. The two alternative scenarios reported yield reductions of 34 - 50% in transport carbon emissions by 2050 (OECD/ITF, 2017), even while infrastructure investment costs are reduced.

Given these cost estimates, and given the critical need for emission reductions, how directive should governments be in signalling the need for, and investing in, zero-carbon and integrated infrastructure? It was noted earlier that there is a strong case for policy that in a transparent, non-discriminatory way, supports green infrastructure projects (Aghion et al., 2014). However, this is still a recommendation that supposes a degree of neutrality (avoiding picking winners), and assumes that there is time for infrastructure policy to falter or fail, and be corrected, over a period of decades. The climate crisis now implies there is no remaining window for such evolutionary experimentation.

Moreover, by analogy with the argument about the economic spillover benefits of technological innovation, it can be argued that there are strong spillover benefits of zero-carbon social and economic practices and behaviours, which green infrastructure supports. For example, investment in public transport systems is likely to encourage innovation around complementary zero-carbon practices and technologies such as bike sharing, scooter sharing systems, and – in future – 'last-mile' autonomous vehicles connecting to public transport nodes. Complementary low-cost investment in well-located and high quality green space can also encourage innovation in higher density, zero-carbon buildings and practices of urban living.

At present, there are major risks of infrastructure investment being distorted by decisions that favour traditional carbon-intensive incumbents. This is most evident in the energy sector, where there is continuing pressure for the use of gas to replace coal, even though the emissions footprint of fracked gas is often worse than that of coal (McKibben, 2018).¹³ In Germany, a plan for transition of the coal sector during the 2030s has been agreed and represents Germany 'getting out of coal', but according to a climate expert on the Coal Commission, H J Schellnhuber, the transition is not sufficiently rapid to be consistent with the Paris agreement (Stratmann, 2019).

A similar pattern has long been evident in urban development. Newton, commenting on Australian cities, and incentives to invest in greyfield suburbs (existing suburbs which are neither greenfield development areas nor brownfield redevelopment sites), notes a pattern of government-driven 'pricing and incentives that favour centralized water and energy utilities, and high levels of urban resource consumption which encourage comparatively inefficient greenfield development while greyfield areas continue to operate without significant renewal' (Newton, 2010, p.86). And a comparable pattern is seen in New Zealand, where considerable highway investment and urban development has been occurring on the assumption that greenfield sprawl or low-density suburbs will remain viable in future, whereas their higher infrastructure costs (Adams & Chapman, 2016) and carbon footprints mean they will very likely become unsustainable as carbon prices and other policy signals change in future. Mature cities in rich countries should be expected to lead the way in adjusting to a very much lower-carbon pattern of development (Floater et al., 2014) through processes such as re-densification.

A related argument is that the sort of infrastructure investment chosen as part of sustainability-focused integrated urban planning has a strong path-dependent impact on climate outcomes. One expert's comment on such urban planning is that 'they who fail to plan, plan to fail' (Hickman et al., 2013). A particular sort of planning is evidently needed – to favour zero-carbon infrastructure, technologies and practices, such as low-energy buildings and human scale local built environments, favouring active and public transport. Such integrated planning has the best chance of eliciting the necessary innovative co-investment from the private sector to match government investment.

A similar argument for integrated infrastructure investment is made in the New Climate Economy reports, which conclude on the need for three Cs: compact urban growth, connected infrastructure, and coordinated governance (Floater et al., 2015). These reports emphasise the long life span of urban infrastructure such as roads and buildings, of 30-100 years or more. Critical infrastructure includes Bus Rapid Transit, cycle superhighways, smart grids, energy efficient buildings and essential water, sanitation and waste infrastructure (Floater et al., 2014), and supporting policies extend to public transport and the electric vehicle recharging network.

In some city regions, the transition in this direction is now underway. Newman's perspective is that the 'modernist manuals' of infrastructure planning need to be or are already being rewritten with the new model being a more distributed and participatory energy system; a polycentric transport system based largely on rail connections (and possibly trackless trams) plus walking and cycling; and water and waste systems based on reducing demand, reusing water, and recycling, supported by new, smart technologies (Glazebrook & Newman, 2018; Newman, 2016). It is critical that the pressure be ramped up in all cities for zero-carbon infrastructure to become not just desirable, but the accepted standard.

5 Governance and political change

In any radical transition, probably the greatest governance challenge lies in ensuring the population is aware of the pressing need for action and is prepared (and in some instances resigned) to facing disruption in the short term for the sake of longer-term gains, or indeed survival in some cases. Awareness of risks has to be balanced by a strong, positive narrative of change, to enable people to imagine a positive future. Without this support, no government will have the mandate to regulate self-interested actions by both adversely affected individuals and major market players who, understandably, would prefer to defer action or resist the stranding of their assets.

As well as requiring high levels of political awareness, electoral support for change requires more future focused, connected institutions; inclusive, democratic processes which engage a broad range of actors (NGOs, business, unions, consumers) during the transition; and government preparedness to address inequalities and assist those disadvantaged by change through the process of adjustment, for example with transition assistance – in short, ensure a 'just transition'. Athanasiou has underlined the point that '[o]nly by attacking climate and inequality together can we hope to find a new solidarity for the 21st Century, and thus a way forward' (Athanasiou, 2007), and Stern has made a similar point, noting that reducing poverty and achieving a form of development that is clean, sustainable and inclusive go hand in hand (Stern, 2018). Whether societies go the extra mile and 'use energy transitions as opportunities to rethink dominant political, economic, and social institutions' (Howe & Boyer, 2016) is an open question. Given that the elite, the most wealthy 1% in most societies, is strongly associated with fossil fuel interests, and their wealth is often heavily invested in current forms of infrastructure, it can be argued that without such rethinking, the necessary transition may ultimately be harder to make.

5.1 Working with public perceptions

In cities particularly, we are beginning to witness strong political momentum for mitigation action, and the start of an awareness that we are engaged in a race against time (Gurria, 2017). Ensuring that the public is better informed than currently, about both the risks associated with climate change and the implications of an ambitious mitigation strategy, is central. Among business and economic experts, the global risk perception picture is now dominated by climate-related risk (World Economic Forum, 2019).¹⁴ In the wider context, risk perceptions and views of social commentators matter (Bain et al., 2016; Monbiot, 2017, 2019; Wallace-Wells, 2019a) and changing public perceptions appear to be intensifying calls for more rapid mitigation. Already, we see public perceptions of urban quality of life going beyond socio-economic wellbeing, to encompass a lower environmental burden (Gudipudi, Lüdeke, Rybski, & Kropp, 2018). This will increasingly be true as climate impacts such as heat and flooding progressively affect more cities. Urban governments will need to invest heavily in ambitious planning for energy, transport, housing, urban development and other investment, if citizens are not to be disappointed in their calls for effective mitigation action. This need will coincide with increasing demands on urban governments to plan for adaptation, and implement protective strategies.

Signposting significant changes will be important for managing perceptions that city and national governments are developing credible plans. Transparent sectoral commitments -- such as those by New York City to reduce large buildings' carbon emissions by 40% by 2030 and 80% by 2050 (Urban Green

Council, 2018), or by cities, car companies or countries to ensure petrol and diesel car production or imports cease by dates such as 2025, 2030 or 2035¹⁵ -- are vital in creating a sense of momentum, as long as the commitments are specific and not too distant in time. Similarly, a helpful signpost is San Francisco's announcement of a plan to ensure all very large buildings are powered by renewable electricity by 2030.

Many already believe that local government is part of the answer in terms of action on climate change. In the US, when asked 'How confident are you that people like you, working together, can affect what your local government does about global warming?', 50% of registered voter respondents say 'a great deal'/'a lot'/'a moderate amount'. The corresponding figure for the federal government is 38% (A. Leiserowitz et al., 2019, p.19).

However, there is no doubt that some population segments, not only in developed countries such as the US but also in developing countries remain relatively poorly informed about the impacts of climate change (e.g. only 48% of Americans in December 2018 thought that 'people in the US are being harmed by global warming "right now")(A. Leiserowitz, Maibach, E., Rosenthal, S., Kotcher, J., Ballew, M., Goldberg, M., & Gustafson, A., 2018, p.14). In addition, fewer than half of Americans perceive social norms for taking action on global warming (*ibid*, p.19). Ongoing educational efforts are important to target such groups.

Support for a comprehensive policy package to address climate change is now relatively high in developed countries, although support for particular policy measures affecting particular sectors and groups is usually softer. In the US, the 'Green New Deal' policy package is garnering some support. It has been described as a 'massive program of investments in clean-energy jobs and infrastructure, meant to transform not just the energy sector, but the entire economy' and amounting to a 'choice between changes that seem impossible and a future that seems unthinkable.' (Roberts, 2019). In December 2018, a national US survey (A. Leiserowitz et al., 2019, p.19) investigating support for the package found 81% support among registered voters (n=966).¹⁶ However, given that 82% of Americans had heard 'nothing at all' about the Green New Deal, it is unlikely that such a level of support will be sustained as partisan divisions emerge around specific policies in future. Much of the package would directly involve cities and regions in components such as upgrading the 'energy grid, buildings, and transportation infrastructure', improving energy efficiency; and investing in 'training for jobs.'

Despite general support for government action on mitigation, climate policy has not been a *priority* among the public, compared to other policy issues. For example, climate change and environmental issues were not priority issues among the general public in France, Germany or the UK at the time of polling in mid-2016, although climate change's ranking was higher in Norway (Steentjes et al., 2017). Accordingly, ensuring sufficient cross-party support will continue to be a potential stumbling point for progressive mitigation policy, not only in the US, but also in liberal-democratic countries such as the UK, Australia and New Zealand. The argument for ensuing cross-party support is principally that without both (or all) major political parties being on board, there will be a lack of sustained investment in long-lived assets (Fallow, 2018). The UK has been a leader in terms of cross-party support for its mitigation legislation.

At present there appears to be trade-off in some countries between policy and legislative durability on the one hand, and policy ambition on the other. Nevertheless, to the extent that there is an ongoing shift in public opinion towards stronger policy action, there is a case for governments to invest in planning measures that push beyond the 'current' political middle ground. Failing to be prepared for strong mitigation measures as opinion develops runs a major risk of missing critical opportunities to avoid carbon lock-in.

More pessimistic assessments of citizen preparedness (and government support of citizen education for change) are not unusual. For example, the UK's Institute for Public Policy Research states: 'It is unclear whether adequate efforts are being made to sufficiently prepare populations to navigate the radical social and economic transitions needed to prevent catastrophic environmental breakdown while ensuring they remain resilient to the growing negative impacts of breakdown ' (Laybourn-Langton et al., 2019)

Social acceptance and institutional *trust* are critical to public acceptance of rapid change, especially when driven by disruptive policy measures. Trust has been shown to vary significantly across countries. For example, Steentjes *et al.* (2017) found that institutional trust was higher in Germany and Norway than in the UK and France. Part of building acceptance and trust is the development of a compelling, coherent and positive narrative, explaining the need for policy and behavioural change, and setting out the evidence linking all aspects of mitigation to improved well-being.

Over the next 30 years, the world will change dramatically for a range of reasons, including climate change impacts, population movement partly driven by climate change, changes in regional economic activity, and changes in technology and social practice. Many of these changes will materially alter cities. Climate change is already starting to have impacts on migration, for example (Gleick, 2014).¹⁷ If a projected 150-200 million possible climate refugees by 2050 (IOM (UN Migration), n.d.) leads to proportionate dislocation and social and economic responses, then the political landscape over the next three decades will likely be one of growing turmoil. It is important that governments anticipate the risk of destabilised political conditions and, to the extent possible, support rational policy programmes as long as possible.¹⁸

5.2 Future focused, connected institutions

There has been little research on how governments can best re-orient institutions in the face of barely tractable, complex problems. One analysis (Levin et al., 2012) suggests building 'forward-looking path dependence'. Levin et al. argue for an 'applied forward reasoning approach', which identifies 'ways in which interventions might create particular policy pathways that move toward preferred outcomes.' (p.131). At the urban level, this implies developing some shared understanding of a transition process across a multi-level governance system (with both vertical and horizontal linkages) which can act as a basis for a programme for purposeful change. It also implies working harder to connect different parts of government.

A related challenge is how to 'bind our collective selves' in the face of short-sightedness on the part of electorates and institutions which, of course, reflect 'ourselves'. Keeping important goals and performance indicators under review can help, but in the case of climate transition, those indicators – such as the UK's and New Zealand's climate budgets and emission trajectories – require real determination to adhere to. Levin *et al.* observe that 'rarely do decision makers assess how …policy might be designed to ratchet up over time to become more ambitious' (Levin et al., 2012, p.125). Yet this is precisely what is expected of signatories to the Paris agreement, which includes a ratchet mechanism for increasing ambition over time (Bodansky, 2016).¹⁹

Other writers have suggested forward-looking 'policy binding' mechanisms. Boston (2017), for example, suggests improved reporting on progress towards long-term government goals, giving greater weight to path dependence and irreversibility in policy analysis and decision-making, applying lower discount rates in cost-benefit analyses (especially for periods exceeding thirty years and when there are risks of catastrophic or irreversible consequences), and enhancing deliberative mechanisms for decision making.

5.3 Inclusive, democratic processes

Inclusion is critical, if disruption due to mitigation is not to compound the unfairly distributed emerging effects of climate change (with the most extreme consequences largely falling on the Global South, but with some falling on low-income populations in the Global North). The IPCC observes that 'inclusive processes can facilitate transformations by ensuring participation, transparency, capacity building and iterative social learning (high confidence).' (IPCC, 2018).

SDG16 ('Peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable development, and inclusive institutions at all levels') highlights the importance of democratic participation as a goal.²⁰ Democratic participation can in

turn support the achievement of other sustainable development goals, although it may come under time pressure during a rapid transition process. Given the limitations of representative democracy, deliberative democracy may be one of the most effective tools available to generate an effective conversation and manageable democratic process (Taylor & Runciman, 2018) on large, long-term matters such as stabilising and then reducing consumer demand in rich countries.

It is easy to imagine there will be significant public support for policy measures where demonstrable gains, such as health benefits as well as emission reductions, clearly outweigh the costs of action. But because of loss aversion (Kahneman & Tversky, 1984), even modest policy adjustments, such as the provision of bike lanes in cities with the purpose of increasing active travel and reducing car use, will be vigorously resisted by some who are concerned by a loss of conventional (if recent) patterns of activity. One way to manage such resistance is through early, inclusive and democratic planning processes involving communities, and workers in carbon-intensive industries. It is no easy political task to manage such change, and rapid change across multiple domains of a city or region is considerably more challenging.

There is no substitute for ongoing political awareness raising and education about the purpose of such changes, incremental introduction of and experimentation with appropriate policies, evaluation of performance and celebration of successes, emphasising their contribution to the longer-term trajectory of change. This needs to involve the public, debating and building the case for both individual and collective (policy) action, and the nature of that action. It also needs to engage local business and community partners in the process of change. The IPCC notes that '[r]e-examining individual and collective values could help spur urgent, ambitious and cooperative change (medium evidence, high agreement).' (IPCC, 2018c, p.46). However, while such reflection on the values involved is desirable, it is only part of a multi-dimensional process needed at the level of local government action.

A significant risk during a period of disruptive transition is in maintaining democratic responsiveness and engagement. One risk is that of losing democratic control to well-resourced special interests as demonstrated even by the more confident and less hurried processes of previous technological transitions. An example is the transition from a pedestrian and bicycle based urban mobility system in cities around 1900 to a private vehicle based mobility system by the 1930s. In countries such as the US, Australia and New Zealand, this process was one in which local democratic control of cities' land use (mainly streets) became dominated by the interests of the automobile industry, leading to an accelerated and problematic displacement of pedestrians and bicycles by cars (Tolley, 2019). One of the consequences of the imbalance that developed was an over-emphasis on roads and facilities for vehicles (including parking) at the expense of more compact human-centred urban design.

It would be naïve to suppose that special interests with large influence, such as the fossil fuel 'oligarchy', or those with powerful ownership interests in the current transport system, for example, would be accommodating to the necessary changes in cities, or indeed to changes in the wider economy. The difficulty is that this resistance poses dangers for democratic urban (non-oligarchic) governance, leaving aside its significance for national governance (MacKay, 2017).²¹ It is likely to be manifest in a range of ways, such as resistance to the repurposing of car-dominated land use arrangements, for example, or to the widespread decentralisation of electricity generation. As MacKay argues, control over much societal decision-making by a small, self-interested elite can make it difficult for society to make rational and long-sighted decisions in the face of major threats like climate change.

A potential antidote to the resistance by established interests to municipal democratic reform of urban planning, transport and energy systems is to ensure that sustainability-conscious horizontal networks of democratic cities are built and utilised. Networks of cities – e.g. C40 cities; ICLEI -- have proven useful in constructing knowledge of, and sharing, promising urban sustainability practices. The Global Covenant of Mayors for Climate & Energy, for example, has been signed by around 9,200 cities representing about 813 million people worldwide or almost 11 percent of the global population²² (UNEP, 2018). Despite its impressive coverage and apparent ambition, the covenant lacks cut-through and specificity.

manifestation of the ongoing power of elites is in the way city networks seem to be operating. Johnson makes the powerful point that city networks such as ICLEI and C40 Cities may come close to jeopardising their intellectual independence: '[They] have become highly dependent upon the contributions of private corporations and corporate foundations, such as Bloomberg Philanthropies, the Rockefeller Foundation and Arup, suggesting a possible limitation on the ability of city-networks to develop an autonomous climate policy agenda.' (Johnson, 2018, p.152)

The point is often made that local government is typically a creature of national power, with national government able to abolish local government, or trim its powers and resources. For example, the Conservatives abolished the Greater London Council in 1986; however, it was reinstated, if altered, as the Greater London Authority, in 2000. The State of New York blocked – until recently – plans for New York City to introduce congestion pricing.²³ As an OECD analysis remarks, 'local governmental authority to act in areas related to climate change is often "nested" in legal and institutional frameworks at higher scales' (OECD, 2010, p.173).

Ultimately, in an era of nation states and partial globalisation, the power of cities tends to be significant but limited (R. Chapman et al., 2017; Johnson, 2018). Cities may be prompted to action by an 'action gap' at the national level (Engel, 2009; Gore, 2010). The local level is an appropriate level for some mitigation policies, as cities normally have high energy consumption (as noted earlier) and waste production, as well as considerable influence over key areas such as transport (Puppim de Oliveira, 2009). Although cities can have influence and may even be highly motivated, factors such as a lack of coordination and/or capacity (Aylett, 2014) may constrain them. At the least, it makes sense to exploit opportunities from better vertical and horizontal policy integration (Corfee-Morlot et al., 2009; Newman, Beatley, & Boyer, 2009) and exploit concrete areas where cities can effect change (Committee on Climate Change, 2012).

Developing and sharing intellectually independent, critical knowledge about the priorities for climate mitigation policies of cities is important if we are to learn as rapidly as possible about effective mitigation strategies. This includes understanding lessons from existing literature, which is rapidly growing; and making those lessons digestible for policy makers. As noted earlier, making use of networks of cities (e.g. C40 Cities; ICLEI) which are already active in this space could increase the efficiency with which best practice can be disseminated and refined, but it will be vital to safeguard the independence of such networks from established interests.

5.4 Addressing inequalities and distributional issues

As noted above, the IPCC links governance challenges to scenarios with high inequality. Specifically, the IPCC in its 2018 SR1.5 report couches this as follows:

'The design of the mitigation portfolios and policy instruments to limit warming to 1.5°C will largely determine the overall synergies and trade-offs between mitigation and sustainable development (very high confidence). Redistributive policies that shield the poor and vulnerable can resolve trade-offs for a range of SDGs (medium evidence, high agreement).'(IPCC, 2018c, p.45).

This raises questions of how, within countries, redistributive protective policies or compensatory policies might be effectively articulated and introduced (and whether all are necessarily justified, including for example, compensation for property owners having to relinquish property privileges). It is important also to bear in mind that there are high transaction costs for any government in working through questions of redistribution, given that alterations in the current distribution of power and resources may be disproportionately resisted.

It is widely accepted that emissions are at present very inequitably distributed; for example, Wallace-Wells notes that 'If the world's richest 10% were limited to the average European footprint, global emissions

would fall by a third.' (Wallace-Wells, 2018). A more specific and local analysis by Brand and Boardman suggests that a disproportionate share of the UK's transport emissions is produced by the wealthy:

'There is a highly unequal distribution of [travel] emissions amongst the population, independent of the mode of travel, location and unit of analysis. The top 10% of emitters are responsible for 43% of emissions and the bottom 10% for only 1%. Income, economic activity, age, household structure and car availability significantly influence emissions levels.' (Brand & Boardman, 2008)

Governments, both nationally and locally, seeking to constrain emissions of the population as a whole will in some form have to face the question of what they propose doing to regulate the very high emissions of the well-off, while at the same time ensuring that the transition process does not leave vulnerable groups worse off. One perspective on this is that dealing with the justice aspects of climate change is a precondition for proceeding in a responsible way with the climate transition (Perkins, 2019). However, a rigid rhetorical position on this could stymie climate action. A perhaps more pragmatic position is that in any emergency, such as wartime, greater material sacrifices are expected of those with greater resources, and progressive taxation to finance mitigation investment is justified. At the time of writing, the UK House of Commons has just declared a formal environment and climate change emergency and this initiative shows signs of spreading globally.²⁴

In any one urban domain, such as transport, or energy, or urban planning, the pursuit of more just and equitable policies and resource allocations is a formidable social and political task. In the transport domain, Banister translates concerns about the challenge of developing equitable transport systems into some key principles for equitable, sustainable transport:

- It should promote the means to reduce inequality through investment and subsidies that meet the needs of the disadvantaged;
- It should address the rights of all to live in a clean, healthy, safe and quiet environment;
- Transport should be seen as cutting across all related policy sectors (e.g. housing, employment) so that it can provide connectivity between them, and contribute fully to raising human capital. (Banister, 2018)

One view is that advancing these principles while rapidly mitigating climate change, as well as providing effective urban governance to deal with climate adaptation and resilience building, will be very demanding. A counter position is that the experience of the yellow jackets in France shows that without addressing the first principle above, mitigation will be unattainable due to popular resistance.²⁵ The debate therefore goes well beyond the minimal presumption that mitigation policies of cities should not make the distribution of resources more inequitable. Rather, wherever possible, complementarities and alignment should be sought so that distributional gains can accompany or be generated by mitigation policies.

There is no doubt that the transition away from fossil fuels will have a major disruptive effect on certain regions and communities, such as those where fossil fuel extraction and processing continues today. However, not to adapt also promises stranded communities in future. Both promise and challenge lie ahead in this aspect of transition. The 'greening' of the labour movement offers important promise for transition, but continuing support for the transition requires major investment in local economies dependent on extraction, before major disruption occurs, alongside a determination that any negotiated outcome respects the necessities of climate science, as noted above in the context of the German coal transition.

5.5 Knowledge gaps

A last consideration is knowledge gaps. A recent literature survey noted that 'locating research efforts, stakeholder engagement and policy advocacy in growing cities and developing regions will be instrumental to avoiding lock-in and realising compact, low-carbon urban forms that can tackle the coming mitigation

challenge' (Lamb, Creutzig, Callaghan, & Minx, 2019). They also note that 'more attention should be given to learning from case studies', alongside 'increased ambition in comparative research, and more comprehensive reviews of the case study literature.'

This echoes one of the findings of the New Climate Economy researchers five years ago, that a major challenge for analysing carbon emissions at the city level is the lack of robust, comparable data. They also found that 'only around 40 cities were found to have published carbon emissions [data] over the last three years, and only 12 of these provided a clear breakdown of emissions for key sectors of the economy' (Floater et al., 2014).

Putting research questions back into the wider frame, we end by paraphrasing and focusing the IPCC's questions (IPCC, 2018c, p.43) about remaining research and knowledge gaps, as applied particularly to cities and regions:

- How can rates of change for urban areas be accelerated and scaled up?
- How much can be realistically expected from innovation and behavioural and systemic political and economic changes in cities, to reduce carbon emissions?
- What is the outcome of realistic assessments of mitigation transitions that are consistent with sustainable development and addressing inequality?



- Acemoglu, D., Aghion, P., Bursztyn, D., & Hemous, D. (2012). The Environment and Directed Technical Change. *American Economic Review, 102*(1), 131–166.
- Acemoglu, D., García-Jimeno, C., & Robinson, J. (2015). State Capacity and Economic Development: A Network Approach. *American Economic Review,*, *105*(8), 2364-2409.
- Adams, M., & Chapman, R. (2016). Do denser urban areas save on infrastructure? Evidence from New Zealand territorial authorities. *Policy Quarterly, 12*(4), 63-70. Retrieved from http://igps.victoria.ac.nz/publications/publications/show/370
- Aghion, P., Hepburn, C., Teytelboym, A., & Zenghelis, D. (2014). Path dependence, innovation and the economics of climate change: Centre for Climate Change Economics and Policy; Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment. Retrieved from London: http://www.lse.ac.uk/GranthamInstitute/wp-
- content/uploads/2014/11/Aghion_et_al_policy_paper_Nov20141.pdf Athanasiou, T. (2007). *The Inconvenient Truth, Part II*. Retrieved from Berkeley, CA:
- http://www.ecoequity.org/wp-content/uploads/2009/05/inconvenienttruth2.pdf Avlett, A. (2014). Progress and Challenges in the Urban Governance of Climate Change: Results of a
- Aylett, A. (2014). Progress and Challenges in the Urban Governance of Climate Change: Results of a Global Survey. Retrieved from Cambridge, MA:
- Bai, X., Dawson, R., Ürge-Vorsatz, D., Delgado, D., & colleagues. (2018). Six research priorities for cities and climate change. *Nature, 555*(1 March), 23-25. Retrieved from <u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Diana_Uerge-</u> <u>Vorsatz/publication/323458761_Six_Research_Priorities_for_Cities_and_Climate_Change/links/</u> <u>5a97399845851535bcdeae14/Six-Research-Priorities-for-Cities-and-Climate-Change.pdf</u>
- Bain, P. G., Milfont, T. L., Kashima, Y., Bilewicz, M., Doron, G., Garðarsdóttir, R. B., ... Pasquali, C. (2016). Co-benefits of addressing climate change can motivate action around the world. *Nature Climate Change*, 6(2), 154-157.
- Banister, D. (2018). Inequality in Transport. Marcham, Oxfordshire: Alexandrine Press.
- Bodansky, D. (2016). The Paris Climate Change Agreement: A New Hope? American Journal of International Law, 110(2), 288-319. doi:10.5305/amerjintelaw.110.2.0288
- Boston, J. (2017). Safeguarding the Future, Chapter 5: Improving anticipatory governance. Wellington: Bridget Williams Books.
- Brand, C., & Boardman, B. (2008). Taming of the few—The unequal distribution of greenhouse gas emissions from personal travel in the UK. *Energy Policy*, *36*(1), 224-238. Retrieved from <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com.helicon.vuw.ac.nz/science?ob=PublicationURL& tockey=%23TO</u> <u>C%235713%232008%23999639998%23675584%23FLA%23&_cdi=5713&_pubType=J&_auth=</u> <u>y&_acct=C000053190&_version=1&_urlVersion=0&_userid=1495406&md5=7f7c2041aeb58e49</u> <u>06a3703673eae646</u>
- Breach, A. (2018). Why a Workplace Parking Levy could help solve cities' transport and congestion problems. Retrieved from <u>https://www.centreforcities.org/blog/workplace-parking-levy-answer-</u> <u>cities-transport-congestion-</u> <u>problems/?utm_source=Centre+for+Cities+Newsletter&utm_campaign=1c330d1a36-</u> <u>EMAIL_CAMPAIGN_2018_01_17&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_2a9c9d5ef9-1c330d1a36-</u> <u>45009077&mc_cid=1c330d1a36&mc_eid=16fb744f0b</u>
- Brown, V., Diomedi, B. Z., Moodie, M., Veerman, J. L., & Carter, R. (2016). A systematic review of economic analyses of active transport interventions that include physical activity benefits. *Transport Policy, 45*, 190-208.
- Bulkeley, H. (2010). Cities and the Governing of Climate Change. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, *35*(1), 229-253. doi:doi:10.1146/annurev-environ-072809-101747

- Burton-Chellew, M. N., May, R. M., & West, S. A. (2013). Combined inequality in wealth and risk leads to disaster in the climate change game. *Climatic Change*, *120*(4), 815-830.
- C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group. (2016). *Municipal Building Efficiency: Good Practice Guide*. Retrieved from London, New York, Rio de Janeiro: <u>https://c40-production-images.s3.amazonaws.com/good_practice_briefings/images/8_C40_GPG_MBE.original.pdf?145_6789018</u>
- Calma, J. (2019). Road to Riches? . *Grist.org*, (10 April). Retrieved from <u>https://grist.org/article/take-from-the-rich-and-give-to-the-subway-inside-new-yorks-evolving-congestion-pricing-policy/</u>

Calthorpe, P. (2017). 7 principles for building better cities. n.s.: TED Ideas Worth Spreading.

- Carbon Brief. (2019). *In-depth: The UK should reach 'net-zero' climate goal by 2050, says CCC.* Retrieved from London: <u>https://www.carbonbrief.org/in-depth-the-uk-should-reach-net-zero-climate-goal-by-2050-says-ccc</u>
- Castán Broto, V., & Bulkeley, H. (2013). A survey of urban climate change experiments in 100 cities. *Global Environmental Change*, 23(1), 92-102.

doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.07.005

- CCC. (2019). Net Zero: The UK's contribution to stopping global warming. Retrieved from London: https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Net-Zero-The-UKs-contribution-tostopping-global-warming.pdf
- Chapman, R. (2018). Access and land use: a brief exploration: New Zealand Centre for Sustainable Cities Policy Paper. Retrieved from Wellington: <u>http://sustainablecities.org.nz/wp-</u> content/uploads/Access-and-Land-use.pdf
- Chapman, R., Howden-Chapman, P., & Capon, A. (2016). Understanding the systemic nature of cities to improve health and climate change mitigation. *Environment international, 94*, 380-387. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.04.014</u>
- Chapman, R., Howden-Chapman, P., Whitwell, K., & Thomas, A. (2017). Towards zero carbon? Constrained policy action in two New Zealand cities. *Australasian Journal of Environmental Management*, 24(2), 97-116. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14486563.2017.1309696</u>
- Chapman, R., Keall, M., Howden-Chapman, P., Grams, M., Witten, K., Randal, E., & Woodward, A. (2018). A Cost Benefit Analysis of an Active Travel Intervention with Health and Carbon Emission Reduction Benefits. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. doi:doi:10.3390/ijerph15050962
- Committee on Climate Change. (2012). *How local authorities can reduce emissions and manage climate risk*. Retrieved from London: <u>http://hmccc.s3.amazonaws.com/Local%20Authorites/1584_CCC_LA%20Report_bookmarked_1</u> <u>b.pdf</u> and <u>http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2012/may/17/uk-carbon-targets-funding-</u> cuts?CMP=EMCENVEML1631
- Corfee-Morlot, J., Kamal-Chaoui, L., Donovan, M., Cochran, I., Robert, A., & Teasdale, P. (2009). *Cities, Climate Change and Multilevel Governance*. Retrieved from Paris:
- Costanza, R. (2014). A theory of socio-ecological system change. *Journal of Bioeconomics, 16*(1), 39. Retrieved from <u>https://scholar.google.co.nz/citations?view_op=view_citation&hl=en&user=EQ-mkaAAAAJ&cstart=20&pagesize=80&sortby=pubdate&citation_for_view=EQ-mkaAAAAJ:VnuxuLaQPLMC</u>
- Crawley, S., Coffe, H., & Chapman, R. (2019). 'Public opinion on climate change: belief and concern, issue salience and support for government action. *British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, 1-20. doi:<u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1369148119888827</u>
- Creutzig, F., Jochem, P., & colleagues. (2015). Transport: A roadblock to climate change mitigation? *Science*(20 November).
- de Pee, A., Pinner, D., Roelofson, O., & colleagues. (2018). *Decarbonization of industrial sectors: the next frontier*. Retrieved from Amsterdam, NL: <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/business%20functions/sustainability/our%20insigh</u> <u>ts/how%20industry%20can%20move%20toward%20a%20low%20carbon%20future/decarboniza</u> <u>tion-of-industrial-sectors-the-next-frontier.ashx</u>
- Doniger, D. (1988). Politics of rhe ozone layer. Issues in Science and Technology, 4(3), 86-92.
- Engel, K. H. (2009). Whither subnational climate change initiatives in the wake of federal climate legislation? *Publius: The Journal of Federalism*, 432-454.

- Ernst, L., de Graaf-Van Dinther, R., Peek, G.-J., & Loorbach, D. (2016). Sustainable urban transformation and sustainability transitions; conceptual framework and case study. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 112*, 2988-2999.
- Ewing, R., Bartholomew, K., Winkelman, S., Walters, J., & Chen, D. (2007). *Growing Cooler. The Evidence on Urban Development and Climate Change*. Retrieved from Washington, D.C.: http://www.smartgrowthamerica.org/documents/growingcoolerCH1.pdf
- Falk, J., Gaffney, O., & colleagues. (2018). Exponential Climate Action Roadmap. Retrieved from Stockholm, Sweden: <u>https://exponentialroadmap.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Exponential-Climate-Action-Roadmap-September-2018.pdf</u>
- Fallow, B. (2018). Cut carbon emissions? Yes we can. *The New Zealand Herald,* (27 April). Retrieved from https://www.nzherald.co.nz/business/news/article.cfm?c_id=3&objectid=12040248
- Filion, P. (2015). Suburban inertia: the entrenchment of dispersed suburbanism. *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research, 39*(3), 633-640.
- Finkelstein, J., Kane, Š., & Rogers, M. (2019). *How residential energy storage could help support the power grid*. Retrieved from https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Industries/Electric%20Power%20and%20Natural%20Gas/Our%20Insights/How%20residential%20energy%20storage%20could%20help%20support%20the%20power%20grid/How-residential-energy-storage-could-help-support-the-power-grid.ashx
- Floater, G., Rode, P., Robert, A., Kennedy, C., Hoornweg, D., Slavcheva, R., & Godfrey, N. (2014). *Cities and the New Climate Economy: the transformative role of global urban growth.* Retrieved from London:
- Floater, G., Rode, P., Zenghelis, D., & Tonkiss, F. (2015). Better Growth, Better Climate: cities and the new climate economy. Retrieved from London: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TIWemUBP1g4
- Fracassa, D. (2019). SF's big buildings to take big step in reducing city's emissions. San Francisco Chronicle, (22 April). Retrieved from <u>https://www.sfchronicle.com/bayarea/article/SF-s-big-buildings-to-take-big-step-in-reducing-13784121.php</u>
- Galluci, M. (2019). Energy Equity: Bringing Solar Power to Low-Income Communities. Retrieved from <u>https://www.resilience.org/stories/2019-04-16/energy-equity-bringing-solar-power-to-low-income-communities/</u>
- Glaeser, E. L., & Kahn, M. E. (2010). The greenness of cities: carbon dioxide emissions and urban development. *Journal of Urban Economics*, 67(3), 404-418.
- Glazebrook, G., & Newman, P. (2018). The City of the Future. *Urban Planning, 3*(2), 20. doi:10.17645/up.v3i2.1247
- Gleick, P. H. (2014). Water, drought, climate change, and conflict in Syria. *Weather, Climate, and Society, 6*(3), 331-340.
- Global Covenant of Mayors. (2018). Summary for Urban Policy Makers: What the IPCC Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5C means for Cities. Retrieved from <u>https://www.globalcovenantofmayors.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Summary-for-Policy-Makers_Final_Online.pdf</u>
- Gore, C. D. (2010). The limits and opportunities of networks: Municipalities and Canadian climate change policy. *Review of Policy Research*, 27(1), 27-46.
- Gouldson, A., Sudmant, A., Khreis, H., & Papargyropoulou, E. (2018). *The Economic and Social Benefits* of Low-Carbon Cities: A Systematic Review of the Evidence: Background Paper. Retrieved from London: <u>https://newclimateeconomy.report/workingpapers/workingpaper/the-economic-andsocial-benefits-of-low-carbon-cities-a-systematic-review-of-the-</u> evidence/?utm_source=twitter.com&utm_medium=NCEcities&utm_campaign=socialmedia
- Government Office for Science. (2019). A time of unprecedented change in the transport system. Retrieved from London: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/fil</u> e/780868/future_of_mobility_final.pdf
- Gudipudi, R., Lüdeke, M. K., Rybski, D., & Kropp, J. P. (2018). Benchmarking urban eco-efficiency and urbanites' perception. *Cities, 74*, 109-118.
- Gurria, A. (2009). From Grim to Green: towards a low-carbon future. Paper presented at the International Economic Forum of the Americas (Conference of Montreal) http://www.oecd.org/documentprint/0,3455,en_2649_34487_43031674_1_1_1_00.html

- Gurria, A. (2017). Climate Action: Time for implementation: Address to Munk School of Global Affairs, University of Toronto, Canada. Retrieved from Paris: <u>https://www.oecd.org/environment/cc/Climate-Action-time-for-implementation-lecture-by-Secretary-General-2017.pdf</u>
- Haines, A., Amann, M., Borgford-Parnell, N., Leonard, S., Kuylenstierna, J., & Shindell, D. (2017). Shortlived climate pollutant mitigation and the Sustainable Development Goals. *Nature Climate Change*, 7(12), 863-869. doi:10.1038/s41558-017-0012-x
- Hamilton, C. (2016). Define the Anthropocene in terms of the whole Earth. Nature, 536, 251.
- Harvey, H., Orvis, R., & Rissman, J. (2018). *Designing climate solutions: a policy guide for low-carbon energy*. New York: Island Press.
- Henze, V. (2019). Battery Power's Latest Plunge in Costs Threatens Coal, Gas. *BloombergNEF* (*bnef.com*), (26 March). Retrieved from <u>https://about.bnef.com/blog/battery-powers-latest-plunge-costs-threatens-coal-gas/</u>
- Hickman, R., Hall, P., & Banister, D. (2013). Planning more for sustainable mobility. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 33, 210-219.
- Howden-Chapman, A. (2018). Building Consensus. Urban Omnibus: A publication of the Architectural League of New York, (28 November). Retrieved from https://urbanomnibus.net/2018/11/building-consensus/
- Howden-Chapman, P., Siri, J., Chisholm, E., Chapman, R., Doll, C., & Capon, A. (2017). SDG3: Ensure Healthy Lives and Promote Well-being for All at All Ages. In M. Nilsson, D. Griggs, M. Visbeck, C. Ringler, & D. McCollum (Eds.), A Guide to SDG Interactions: From Science to Implementation. Retrieved from <u>https://cgspace.cgiar.org/handle/10568/80993</u>
- Howden-Chapman, P. L., Keall, M., Conlon, F., & Chapman, R. (2015). Urban interventions: understanding health co-benefits. *Proceedings of the ICE - Urban Design and Planning*, *168*(DP4), 196-203. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1680/udap.14.00049</u>
- Howe, C., & Boyer, D. (2016). Aeolian extractivism and community wind in Southern Mexico. *Public Culture, 28*(2 (79)), 215-235.
- IEA. (2017). Real-world policy packages for sustainable energy transitions. Retrieved from Paris: <u>https://www.iea.org/publications/insights/insightpublications/Realworldpolicypackagesforsustaina</u> <u>bleenergytransitions.pdf</u>
- IOM (UN Migration). (n.d.). Migration, Climate change and the Environment. Retrieved from https://www.iom.int/complex-nexus#estimates
- IPCC. (2018a). Global Warming of 1.5 °C: an IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5 °C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. Retrieved from Geneva: http://www.ipcc.ch/report/sr15/
- IPCC. (2018b). *Global warming of 1.5 C: Summary for Policymakers*. Retrieved from Geneva: https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/.
- IPCC. (2018c). Technical summary. In: Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J.B.R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M.I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor, and T. Waterfield (eds.)]. Retrieved from Geneva: https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/02/SR15_TS_High_Res.pdf
- Jackson, T. (2009). Prosperity without Growth: The transition to a sustainable economy. Retrieved from
- London: Johnson, C. A. (2018). The Power of Cities in Global Climate Politics: Saviours, Supplicants or Agents of Change? . London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Kahneman, D., & Tversky, A. (1984). Choices, values, and frames. *American Psychologist*. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/44ea/b3013cb6c63a534570994c9cffe3935ec7ed.pdf
- Klinenberg, E. (2016). Climate change: Adaptation, mitigation, and critical infrastructures. *Public Culture, 28*(2 (79)), 187-192. Retrieved from <u>https://read.dukeupress.edu/public-</u> culture/article/28/2%20(79)/187/85783/Climate-Change-Adaptation-Mitigation-and-Critical

- Köhler, J., Geels, F., Kern, F., & colleagues. (2019). An agenda for sustainability transitions research: State of the art and future directions. . *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2019.01.004</u>
- Komanoff, C. (2018). The Fix NYC Congestion Pricing Plan Looks Solid If Cuomo Aims High. Retrieved from <u>https://nyc.streetsblog.org/2018/01/23/the-fix-nyc-congestion-pricing-plan-looks-solid-if-cuomo-aims-high/</u>
- Komanoff, C., Cavanagh, R., & Miller, P. (2019). *California Stars: Lighting the way to a clean energy future*. Retrieved from New York: <u>https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/california-stars-clean-energy-future-report.pdf</u>
- Kormann, C. (2019). The False Choice Between Economic Growth and Combatting Climate Change. *The New Yorker(4 February)*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.newyorker.com/news/news-desk/the-false-choice-between-economic-growth-and-combatting-climate-change</u>
- Lamb, W. F., Creutzig, F., Callaghan, M. W., & Minx, J. C. (2019). Learning about urban climate solutions from case studies. *Nature Climate Change*. doi:10.1038/s41558-019-0440-x
- Laybourn-Langton, L., Rankin, L., & Baxter, D. (2019). *This is a Crisis: Facing up to the age of environmental breakdown: Initial Report*. Retrieved from London: <u>https://www.ippr.org/files/2019-02/risk-and-environment-feb19.pdf</u>
- Leiserowitz, A., Maibach, E., Rosenthal, S., Kotcher, J., Goldberg, M., Ballew, M., . . . Bergquist, P. (2019). *Politics & Global Warming*. Retrieved from New Haven, CT: <u>http://www.climatechangecommunication.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Global-Warming-Policy-Politics-December-2018.pdf</u>
- Leiserowitz, A., Maibach, E., Rosenthal, S., Kotcher, J., Ballew, M., Goldberg, M., & Gustafson, A. . (2018). *Climate change in the American mind:* . Retrieved from New Haven, CT:
- Levin, K., Cashore, B., Bernstein, S., & Auld, G. (2012). Overcoming the tragedy of super wicked problems: constraining our future selves to ameliorate global climate change. *Policy sciences*, *45*(2), 123-152.
- MacKay, K. (2017). *Radical Transformation: Oligarchy, Collapse, and the Crisis of Civilization*. Toronto: Between the Lines Books.
- Mazzucato, M. (2018). The Value of Everything. New York: PublicAffairs.
- McKibben, B. (2018). How Climate Activists Failed to Make Clear the Problem with Natural Gas. Yale Environment 360(13 March). Retrieved from <u>https://e360.yale.edu/features/how-climate-activists-failed-to-make-clear-the-problem-with-natural-gas-mckibben</u>
- McKinsey & Company. (2009). Pathways to a low-carbon economy: version 2 of the global greenhouse gas abatement cost curve. Retrieved from New York: https://solutions.mckinsey.com/ClimateDesk/default.aspx
- McKinsey and Co. (2019). The trends transforming mobility's future *McKinsey Quarterly*(March). Retrieved from <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/automotive-and-assembly/our-insights/The-trends-transforming-mobilitys-future?cid=mobility-eml-alt-mcq-mck&hlkid=721438f1e54d4c418e4b962888f9a30b&hctky=1542952&hdpid=9376ba28-11da-47b7-839a-4521787ac6d6</u>
- McKinsey Center for Business and Environment. (2017). *Focused acceleration: A strategic approach to climate action in cities to 2030*. Retrieved from New York: <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/sustainability-and-resource-productivity/our-insights/a-strategic-approach-to-climate-action-in-cities-focused-acceleration</u>
- Meadows, D. (2009). Leverage Points: Places to Intervene in a System. *Solutions*(1 October). Retrieved from <u>http://www.thesolutionsjournal.com/node/419</u>
- Mirabile, M., & Calder, J. (2018). *Clean power for a cool planet*. Retrieved from Paris: <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/2dc84376-en.pdf?expires=1557686324&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=DE88A2C0330709EE1E0922CB695EB77E</u>
- Monbiot, G. (2017). A lesson from Hurricane Irma: capitalism can't save the planet it can only destroy it *Guardian.co.uk*, (13 September). Retrieved from <u>https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2017/sep/13/hurricane-irma-capitalism-growth-</u> economics-environment-financial-crisis
- Monbiot, G. (2019). Auto-destruct. *Guardian.co.uk*. Retrieved from https://www.monbiot.com/2019/03/08/auto-destruct/

- Myers, T. A., Nisbet, M. C., Maibach, E. W., & Leiserowitz, A. A. (2012). A public health frame arouses hopeful emotions about climate change. *Climatic Change*, 1-8. Retrieved from http://www.rwjf.org/pr/product.jsp?id=74564
- Newman, P. (2016). Sustainable Urbanization: Four stages of Infrastructure Planning and Progress. Journal of Sustainable Urbanization, Planning and Progress, 1(1), 3-10.
- Newman, P., Beatley, T., & Boyer, H. (2009). *Resilient Cities: Responding to Peak Oil and Climate Change*. Washington, D.C.: Island Press.
- Newton, P. (2010). Beyond greenfield and brownfield: The challenge of regenerating Australia's greyfield suburbs. *Built Environment, 36*(1), 81-104.
- Newton, P., & Glackin, S. (2014). Understanding Infill: Towards New Policy and Practice for Urban Regeneration in the Established Suburbs of Australia's Cities. *Urban Policy and Research*(ahead-of-print), 1-23.
- Nilsson, M., Griggs, D., McCollum, D., & Stevance, A. (2017). A guide to SDG interactions: From science to implementation. Retrieved from Paris: <u>https://www.icsu.org/publications/a-guide-to-sdg-interactions-from-science-to-implementation</u>
- Nilsson, M., Griggs, D., Visbeck, M., Ringler, C., & McCollum, D. (2017). A Guide to SDG Interactions: From Science to Implementation. Paris: International Council for Science (ICSU).
- O'Neill, D. W., Fanning, A. L., Lamb, W. F., & Steinberger, J. K. (2018). A good life for all within planetary boundaries. *Nature Sustainability*, 88-95. doi:10.1038/s41893-018-0021-4
- O'Neill, D. W., Fanning, A. L., Lamb, W. F., & Steinberger, J. K. (2018). A good life for all within planetary boundaries. *Nature Sustainability*, 1. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/s41893-018-0021-4</u>
- OECD. (2010). *Cities and Climate Change*. Retrieved from Paris: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264091375-en.
- OECD. (2012). Redefining Urban: A New Way to Measure Metropolitan Areas. Retrieved from Paris:
- OECD/ITF. (2017). *ITF Transport Outlook 2017*. Retrieved from Paris: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789282108000-en
- Ostrom, E. (2010). A Multi-Scale Approach to Coping with Climate Change and Other Collective Action Problems. *Solutions*, 1(2), 27-36. Retrieved from <u>http://www.thesolutionsjournal.com/node/565</u>
- Paybarhah, A. (2019). Congestion Pricing: Who Pays and Who Doesn't. *New York Times*(18 April). Retrieved from <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2019/04/18/nyregion/newyorktoday/nyc-news-congestion-pricing.html</u>
- Pucher, J., Dill, J., & Handy, S. (2010). Infrastructure, programs, and policies to increase bicycling: an international review. *Preventive Medicine*, *50*, S106-S125.
- Puppim de Oliveira, J. A. (2009). The implementation of climate change related policies at the subnational level: An analysis of three countries. *Habitat International, 33*(3), 253-259. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.habitatint.2008.10.006</u>
- Qin, Y., Wagner, F., Scovronick, N., Peng, W., Yang, J., Zhu, T., . . . Mauzerall, D. L. (2017). Air quality, health, and climate implications of China's synthetic natural gas development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114*(19), 4887-4892. doi:10.1073/pnas.1703167114
 Raftery, A. E., Zimmer, A., Frierson, D. M., Startz, R., & Liu, P. (2017). Less than 2 C warming by 2100
- Raftery, A. E., Zimmer, A., Frierson, D. M., Startz, R., & Liu, P. (2017). Less than 2 C warming by 2100 unlikely. *Nature Climate Change*, 7(9), nclimate3352. Retrieved from <u>http://www.smh.com.au/cqstatic/gxnhv6/NCC2degrees.pdf</u>
- Rees, D. (2014). Could electric cars be bad for the environment? Retrieved from http://energycultures.org/2014/11/electric-cars-bad-environment/
- Režný, L., & Bureš, V. (2019). Energy Transition Scenarios and Their Economic Impacts in the Extended Neoclassical Model of Economic Growth. *Sustainability, 11*(13), 3644.
- Ricke, K., Drouet, L., Caldeira, K., & Tavoni, M. (2018). Country-level social cost of carbon. *Nature Climate Change*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/s41558-018-0282-y.pdf</u>
- Roberts, D. (2019). The Green New Deal, explained. *Vox.com*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.vox.com/energy-and-environment/2018/12/21/18144138/green-new-deal-alexandria-ocasio-cortez</u>
- Robertson, G. (2019). Applying a Wellbeing Approach to the Public Financing System. Retrieved from https://ipanz.org.nz/Attachment?Action=Download&Attachment_id=150280
- Rockström, J., Gaffney, J., Rogelj, J., Meinshausen, M., Nakicenovic, N., & Schellnhuber, J. (2017). A roadmap for rapid decarbonization: Emissions inevitably approach zero with a "carbon law". *Science*, *355*(6331), 1269-1271. doi:10.1126/science.aah3443

- Röttgers, D., & Anderson, B. (2018). Power struggle: Decarbonising the electricity sector: Effects of climate policies, policy misalignments and political economy factors on decarbonisation", OECD Environment Working Papers, No. 139, . Retrieved from Paris: <u>https://www.oecd-</u> <u>ilibrary.org/content/paper/900f4c72-en</u>
- Sarkar, C., Webster, C., & Gallacher, J. (2017). Association between adiposity outcomes and residential density: a full-data, cross-sectional analysis of 419 562 UK Biobank adult participants. *The Lancet Planetary Health*, 1(7), e277-e288. doi:10.1016/s2542-5196(17)30119-5
- Satterthwaite, D. (2008). Cities' contribution to global warming: notes on the allocation of greenhouse gas emissions. *Environment and Urbanization*, 20, 539-549.
- Scheepers, C., Wendel-Vos, G., Den Broeder, J., Van Kempen, E., Van Wesemael, P., & Schuit, A. (2014). Shifting from car to active transport: a systematic review of the effectiveness of interventions. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 70*, 264-280.
- Sengupta, S. (2019). Copenhagen Can a city cancel out its greenhouse gas emissions? *New York Times*, (25 March). Retrieved from <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2019/03/25/climate/copenhagen-</u> <u>climate-</u> <u>change</u> httpl?utm_compaign=RouseCRWcockh/Briefing&utm_modium=omail&utm_course=Rouse

change.html?utm_campaign=RevueCBWeeklyBriefing&utm_medium=email&utm_source=Revue %20newsletter

- Seto, K. C., Davis, S. J., Mitchell, R. B., Stokes, E. C., Unruh, G., & Ürge-Vorsatz, D. (2016). Carbon lock-in: Types, causes, and policy implications. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, *41*, 425-452.
- Seto, K. C., Dhakal, S., Bigio, A., Blanco, H., Delgado, G. C., Dewar, D., ... Ramaswami, A. (2014). Human Settlements, Infrastructure and Spatial Planning. In O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani, S. Kadner, K.Seyboth, A. Adler, I. Baum, S. Brunner, P. Eickemeier, B. Kriemann, J. Savolainen, S. Schlömer, C. v. Stechow, T. Zwickel, & J. C. Minx (Eds.), *Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.: Cambridge University Press,.
- Shoemaker, J. K., & Schrag, D. P. (2013). The danger of overvaluing methane's influence on future climate change. *Climatic Change*, *120*(4), 903-914. doi:10.1007/s10584-013-0861-x
- Smil, V. (2011). Global Energy: The Latest Infatuations. *American Scientist, 99*, 212-219. Retrieved from http://www.vaclavsmil.com/wp-content/uploads/docs/smil-article-2011-AMSCI.11.pdf
- Steentjes, K., Pidgeon, N. F., Poortinga, W., Corner, A. J., Arnold, A., Böhm, G., . . . Scheer, D. (2017). European Perceptions of Climate Change (EPCC): Topline findings of a survey conducted in four European countries in 2016. Retrieved from <u>http://orca.cf.ac.uk/98660/7/EPCC.pdf</u>
- Steffen, W., Persson, Å., Deutsch, L., Zalasiewicz, J., Williams, M., Richardson, K., . . . Gordon, L. (2011). The Anthropocene: From global change to planetary stewardship. AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, 40, 739–761. Retrieved from <u>http://192.38.112.111/pdf-</u> reprints/Steffen_2011.pdf
- Stein, S. (2019). Capital City: Gentrificaiton and the real estate state. New York: Verso.
- Sterl, S., Hagemann, M., & colleagues. (2017). Faster and Cleaner 2. Kick-startibg global decarbonisation. It only takes a few actors to get the ball rolling. . Retrieved from Berlin: <u>https://climateactiontracker.org/publications/faster-and-cleaner-2-kick-starting-globaldecarbonisation-only-takes-few-actors-get-ball-rolling/</u>
- Stern, N. (2018). The economic reasons to act on climate change, and to act immediately. Retrieved from London: <u>http://www.lse.ac.uk/GranthamInstitute/wp-</u>content/uploads/2018/07/Stern Economic-reasons-to-act-on-climate-change-and-to-act-now.pdf
- Stratmann, K. (2019). "Recommendations of the coal commission must be fully implemented". *Handelsblatt*, (27 January). Retrieved from <u>https://www.handelsblatt.com/politik/deutschland/hans-joachim-schellnhuber-empfehlungen-derkohlekommission-muessen-vollumfaenglich-umgesetzt-werden/23909554.html?ticket=ST-1648463-yUDR3e2YzfKnZZzD57qO-ap6</u>
- Taylor, M., & Runciman, D., . (2018, 7 January) *Talking Politics Guide to... Deliberative Democracy/Interviewer: D. Runciman.* Talking Politics, London Review of Books, London.
- The Global Commission on the Economy and Climate. (2014). *Better Growth, Better Climate: The New Climate Economy Report*. Retrieved from Washington, D.C.: http://static.newclimateeconomy.report/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/NCE_GlobalReport.pdf

- The Global Commission on the Economy and Climate. (2018). Unlocking the Inclusive Growth Story of the 21st Century: Accelerating Climate Action in Urgent Times Report Retrieved from www.newclimateeconomy.report
- Tolley, R. (2019). Slowing down for a healthier, wealthier and more sustainable city. Retrieved from Wellington: <u>http://sustainablecities.org.nz/2019/02/seminar-slowing-down-for-a-healthier-wealthier-and-more-sustainable-city/</u>
- UN IPBES. (2019). Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Retrieved from Geneva: <u>https://www.dropbox.com/sh/yd8l2v0u4jqptp3/AACpraYjOYWpTxAFv5H-</u> <u>2vrKa/1%20Global%20Assessment%20Summary%20for%20Policymakers?dl=0&preview=Sum</u> mary+for+Policymakers+IPBES+Global+Assessment.pdf&subfolder_nav_tracking=1
- UNEP. (2018). *Emissions Gap Report 2018* Retrieved from Nairobi: <u>http://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/26895/EGR2018_FullReport_EN.pdf</u>
- UNFCCC. (2016). Marrakesh Action Proclamation. Retrieved from Marrakesh: <u>http://unfccc.int/files/meetings/marrakech_nov_2016/application/pdf/marrakech_action_proclama</u> <u>tion.pdf</u>
- Unruh, G. C., & Carrillo-Hermosilla, J. (2006). Globalizing carbon lock-in. *Energy Policy, 34*(10), 1185-1197. Retrieved from <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6V2W-4DWVXG7-</u> 2/1/cc9ec4886f9642e92166fdbee9789e89
- Upton, S. (2019). *Farms, forests and fossil fuels: The next great landscape transformation?* Retrieved from Wellington: <u>https://www.pce.parliament.nz/media/196517/overview-farms-forests-and-fossil-fuels.pdf</u>
- Urban Green Council. (2018). *Blueprint for Efficiency*. Retrieved from New York: <u>https://www.urbangreencouncil.org/content/projects/blueprint-efficiency-80x50-buildings-partnership-report</u>
- Ürge-Vorsatz, D., Kelemen, A., Tirado-Herrero, S., Thomas, S., Thema, J., Mzavanadze, N., . . . Gupta, M. (2016). Measuring multiple impacts of low-carbon energy options in a green economy context. *Applied Energy*, *179*, 1409-1426.
- US EIA. (2019). In 2018, the United States consumed more energy than ever before. *Today in Energy*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=39092</u>
- Van den Bergh, J. (2011). Environment versus growth—A criticism of "degrowth" and a plea for "agrowth". *Ecological Economics*, *70*(5), 881-890.
- Wallace-Wells, D. (2018). 'The devastation of human life is in view': what a burning world tells us about climate change *The Guardian*. Retrieved from

https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/feb/02/the-devastation-of-human-life-is-in-viewwhat-a-burning-world-tells-us-about-climate-change-global-warming

- Wallace-Wells, D. (2019a). Time to Panic. *The New York Times (Opinion)*(16 February). Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2019/02/16/opinion/sunday/fear-panic-climate-change-warming.html
- Wallace-Wells, D. (2019b). The Unihabitable Earth: Life after Warming. New York: Tim Duggan Books.
- Weiner, E. (2016). Renaissance Florence Was a Better Model for Innovation than Silicon Valley Is. Harvard Business Review(25 January). Retrieved from <u>https://hbr.org/2016/01/renaissance-florence-was-a-better-model-for-innovation-than-silicon-valley-is</u>
- Weller, S., & van Hulten, A. (2012). Gentrification and Displacement: The Effects of a Housing Crisis on Melbourne's Low-Income Residents. Urban Policy and Research, 30(1), 25-42. doi:10.1080/08111146.2011.635410
- Whitmee, S., Haines, A., Beyrer, C., Boltz, F., Capon, A. G., de Souza Dias, B. F., ... Head, P. (2015). Safeguarding human health in the Anthropocene epoch: report of The Rockefeller Foundation– Lancet Commission on planetary health. *The Lancet, 386*(10007), 1973-2028. Retrieved from <u>http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(15)60901-1/abstract</u>
- WHO. (2011). Health in the Green Economy: Health co-benefits of climate change mitigation -Transport sector. Retrieved from Geneva: <u>http://www.who.int/hia/green_economy/en/index.html</u>
- Woodward, A. (2019). Climate change: disruption, risk and opportunity, . *Global Transitions*(tba). doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.glt.2019.02.001</u>.
- World Economic Forum. (2019). *The Global Risks Report 2019; 14th edition*. Retrieved from Geneva: http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Global_Risks_Report_2019.pdf

- Zapata Diomedi, B., Giles-Corti, B., Veerman, J., & Gunn, L. (2019). Physical activity-related health and economic benefits of building walkable neighbourhoods: a modelled comparison between brownfield and greenfield developments. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *16*, 1-12. doi:10.1186/s12966-019-0775-8
- Zenghelis, D. (2019a). Nobel for Economics 2018 a question of imbalance. *Grantham Institute: Commentary*(5 April). Retrieved from <u>http://www.lse.ac.uk/GranthamInstitute/news/nobel-for-</u> <u>economics-2018-a-question-of-imbalance/?mc_cid=b1c5a51501&mc_eid=373a4d5b04</u>
- Zenghelis, D. (2019b). Why the Chancellor's statement on the cost of a net-zero transition in the UK could imperil the country's climate ambitions. (6 June). Retrieved from <a href="http://www.lse.ac.uk/GranthamInstitute/news/why-the-chancellors-statement-on-the-cost-of-a-net-zero-transition-in-the-uk-could-imperil-the-countrys-climate-ambitions/?mc_cid=d72e5fb2db&mc_eid=373a4d5b04

¹ As a matter of practicality, it also excludes waste management, although much of this occurs in cities, on the basis of materiality: the waste management sector is responsible for only ~ 1.5 GtCO₂/y in 2010 compared, for example, with the transport sector at 6.7 Gt, globally: see IPCC, 2014: Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. ² <u>https://climateactiontracker.org/publications/the-ten-most-important-short-term-steps-to-limit-warming-to-15c/</u>

³In Washington, D.C., nearly 100 households are each saving \$250/year on their electric bills thanks to a 182-kW project by New Partners Community Solar, a nonprofit developer that offers free subscriptions to low-income residents (Galluci, 2019).

⁴ Some sources (e.g. a report in the New York Times) confuse the concept of climate neutrality, explaining it (for example) as when a jurisdiction generates more renewable energy than the 'dirty' energy it consumes --see (Sengupta, 2019).

⁵ The Climate Change Committee (May 2019) noted that current pledges of effort from countries across the world would lead to warming of around 3°C by 2100. The UK CCC's recommendation is consistent with a 1.5°C trajectory, and its intent to 'identify a UK target that is within reach and best supports an increase in global effort.' (p.13). Moreover, the 'net-zero target for all GHGs would imply that the UK will be actively reducing its large historical contribution to global warming.'(p.17).

⁶ Comment by Derk Loorbach at OECD workshop, 17 May 2019.

⁷ Estimated infrastructure investment is of the order of US\$90 trillion in the period to 2030, according to Global Commission on the Economy and Climate (2018) Unlocking the Inclusive Growth Story of the 21st Century: Accelerating Climate Action in Urgent Times Report.

⁸ The organisation which came closest to predicting this in the case of wind power was probably Greenpeace [Pers. Comm.: Eric Martinot].

⁹ https://grist.org/article/new-york-citys-newly-passed-green-new-deal-explained/

¹⁰ For a discussion of a European minimum carbon price proposal, see <u>https://www.pik-potsdam.de/news/press-releases/klimaplan-</u><u>fur-deutschland-okonomen-schlagen-co2-preisreform-vor</u>

¹¹ It also found that support schemes for using renewables in buildings' heating and cooling systems were covered by only 19 percent of G20 members.

¹² Based on an International Transport Forum analysis for the period 2015-2050.

¹³ See also the comment above on SLCPs (short lived climate pollutants), one of which is methane.

¹⁴ Disasters triggered by climate and weather-related hazards are responsible for an increasing toll, estimated at US\$320 billion in losses in 2017: (The Global Commission on the Economy and Climate, 2018)

¹⁵ However, the dates in question matter: '2040 is too late for the phase-out of petrol and diesel cars and vans, and current plans for delivering this are too vague.' (CCC, 2019) The goal set by Norway to cease sales of conventional cars by 2025, and Paris's commitment to banish all petrol and diesel cars from the city centre by 2030 are more timely: (Gurria, 2017).

¹⁶ The description of the policy was summarized from a 2018 policy report: "the Green New Deal will produce jobs and strengthen America's economy by accelerating the transition from fossil fuels to clean, renewable energy. The Deal would generate 100% of the nation's electricity from clean, renewable sources within the next 10 years; upgrade the nation's energy grid, buildings, and transportation infrastructure; increase energy efficiency; invest in green technology research and development; and provide training for jobs in the new green economy."

¹⁷ A plausible view is that climate played a significant role in the onset of the Syrian refugee crisis, contributing to the 1 million or so refugees who crossed into Europe from around 2014, in turn contributing to anti-immigrant sentiment in Europe and fuelling political reactions such as Brexit.

¹⁸ Steentjes et al. found that in the four countries surveyed in 2016 (Germany, Norway, France and the UK), 'a majority disputed any link between climate change and the 2016 refugee crisis in Europe, [but] about one third of respondents (and one half in Norway) did think that climate change will lead to more migration to their own country in the future.' (p.37).

¹⁹ The Marrakesh Declaration reinforces the commitment to increasing ambition in mitigation: 'We call for urgently raising ambition and strengthening cooperation amongst ourselves to *close the gap between current emissions trajectories and the pathway needed* to meet the long-term temperature goals of the Paris Agreement.' (emphasis added): (UNFCCC, 2016)

²⁰ Goal 16.7 is 'Ensure responsive, inclusive, participatory and representative decision-making at all levels.': <u>https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdg16</u>

²¹ https://www.resilience.org/stories/2018-09-25/the-ecological-crisis-is-a-political-crisis/

²² Covenant website, accessed May 2019: <u>https://www.globalcovenantofmayors.org/news/</u>

²³ <u>https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2008/apr/08/congestioncharging.pollution</u> but also <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2019/03/26/nyregion/what-is-congestion-pricing.html</u>

²⁴ https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/may/01/declare-formal-climate-emergency-before-its-too-late-corbyn-warns

²⁵ Some behavioural economics evidence suggests that when inequality is such that resource endowments are unequal and impacts of climate change tend to fall on the poor, it is difficult to achieve cooperation and success in mitigation. (Burton-Chellew, May, & West, 2013)